Measuring Strategic Design Performance; a KPI for the fuzzy front end

Maser thesis by Adam Helbing

## Measuring Strategic Design Performance;

a KPI for the fuzzy front end

by Adam Helbing September 2020 Master Thesis Strategic Product Design Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering Delft University of Technology

#### Supervisory team

Dr. Ir. Bos-de Vos, M. Prof. dr. Hultink, E. J. Design, Organisation and Strategy

#### Author

Adam Helbing A.V.Helbing@gmail.com

Feel free to contact me for any questions, or comments!

## Summary

This thesis describes my Master graduation project in which I attempt to design a Key Performance Indicator (KPI) for Strategic Designers, to enable us to justify and explain our efforts in a quantitatively oriented context, such as a corporate setting.

In the end, this project provides multiple novel perspectives to knowledge about Strategic Design, and a concept for a Strategic Design KPI for the fuzzy front end.

This project was based on the premiss that Strategic Design has proven to be valuable and relevant for innovation – for which there is no shortage of demand, but that Strategic Designers often struggle to justify/explain their added value.

Research suggests that more emphasis on applying KPIs or metrics is a way to address this issue, but there are currently no suitable metrics for Strategic Design.

The lack of a suitable Strategic Design KPI is explained by the core characteristics of Strategic Design, and those of their typical work. The most predominant of these characteristics is the high uncertainty that Strategic Designers deal with; no clear goals, or means of achieving them.

This is most applicable to the fuzzy front end; the earliest stage of an innovation project, where nothing is clear or known, questions are open ended, and results are not predetermined.

In order to measure performance in highly uncertain projects, process-based metrics were identified as the most suitable option; metrics based on the process, but not limited to only productivity.

A concept was designed for a KPI for Strategic Design performance, based on the findings of a qualitative study. The KPI can be mostly integrated into a normal Strategic Design process. The KPI consists of the following elements:

- 1. Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score; summarising overall Strategic Design performance in the fuzzy front end.
- 2. Content Quality Score; indicating the quality of content development. This is based on 2 sub-scores;
  - Information Comprehensiveness Score; indicating the quality of diverging activities.
  - Logical Coherence Ratio; indicating the quality of converging activities.
- 3. Total Support Level; indicating the quality of stakeholder management. This is based on 2 sub-scores;
  - Managerial Support Level; indicating the level of support from managerial stakeholders, and their perception of the strategic fit of the result.
  - Internal Support Level; indicating the level of support from internal stakeholders, and their perception of the continuity of the result.
- 4. Level of Discrepancy; a benchmark to indicate potential problems for interpreting the KPI. If there is a large difference between the Content Quality Score and the Total Support Level, it is recommendable to evaluate the following:
  - Understandability; indicating the extent to which the Strategic Designer is able to sufficiently convey the content.
  - Innovation culture; indicating the organisation's ability to change/innovate, which determines the potential scope of the result.



Figure s.1 Strategic Design KPI

In the end, the KPI is at a conceptual stage, so more development before implementation is recommended. The novel perspective to Strategic Design performance does open new academic, and practical possibilities for testing, and evaluating the impact of Strategic Design.

## Words of appreciation

Before we dive into the content of my graduation, I would like to take the opportunity to express my gratitude and appreciation for everybody who has contributed to this project. 2020 has been a strange year for everyone, and I have been very fortunate to find so many people who have been willing and able to help me through it. I am not exaggerating when I say that I could not have done it without you.

Special thanks go out to my research participants, who gave me their time, and insight into their experiences as Strategic Designers. You have all been very open and helpful, and it is safe to say that you have been the foundation of my results.

Furthermore, I would like to thank my supervisors: Marina and Erik Jan. You have contributed to the quality of my project tremendously through your input. I realise that you made a lot of your time available to me, and for that I am grateful.

Marina, your patience, willingness to help, and extreme thoroughness have been incredibly valuable in many ways, and I think you will recognise a lot of your input in the final result.

Erik Jan, your critical, 'no-nonsense' approach has been a great way to get me going, but also to keep me grounded in reality, and I hope that you will see a reflection of that throughout this report.

Thank you to my parents; Beatrijs and Wim, for all the opportunities that you have provided to me, and for your contributions to this project specifically. Although Strategic Design is not a subject that you are familiar with, your help has proven to be surprisingly valuable.

Thank you Gittan, for all your help throughout the entire project. I think you have given me a lot more input than you realise, and it has helped my greatly.

Thank you, Manon, for your last-minute efforts,

Special thanks to Gaab, for helping me out with my project, but more importantly for keeping me sane. It was not my choice to spend my entire graduation at home, but I could not have asked for better company.

#### Lastly, my thanks to you, the reader. I hope you will enjoy my work, and I am grateful for your time and attention!

4

## Table of contents

### 7 1. Introduction

- 1.1 Subject & motivation 8
- 9 1.2 Approach

### **11 2. Problem framing:**

- 12 2.1 Problem statement
- 2.2 Theoretical background 15

#### 3. Solution framing: 5

- 26 3.1 Method
- 32 3.2 Findings
- 43 3.3 Conclusion

#### 45 4. Strategic Design KPI concept:

- 4.1 KPI overview 46
- 4.2 Workflow 48
- 4.3 Interpreting the KPI 49
- 51 4.4 KPI elements in detail

- 61 5. Validation:
- 62 5.1 Method
- 5.2 Findings 65
- 5.3 Conclusion 67

#### 6. Discussion: 69

- 6.1 Limitations 70
- 6.2 Contribution 71
- 6.3 Recommendations 74
- **Reflection:** 77
- 81 References
- Appendices 87
- A: Research guide 88
- B: Developing the KPI
- C: Original brief 107

# **1. Introduction**

### What to expect going into this project?

This chapter explains the starting point, and topic of this graduation project. It also addresses some contextual information, and provides an overview of the project's process.



## **1.1 Subject & motivation**

The starting point of this project was a personal observation about Strategic Design, based on impressions from multiple Master courses, and conversations with other Strategic Designers. This observation is that the perception of the potential impact of Strategic Design, seems to alternate between extremely positive, and totally unclear. One major contributor to these different perceptions, is the fact that the impact and quality of Strategic Design can be difficult to quantify. Traditionally, performance measurement can be a way to address this, however this does not happen in practice. This observation resulted from the following phenomena:

On one hand, Strategic Design is being recognised for its potential added value. This is demonstrated by the increasing popularity of design methodologies, such as Design Thinking, for strategic purposes. A typical example of this popularity is the creation of the 'Design Master of Business Administration'.

On the other hand, however, Strategic Designers can struggle to make themselves heard, or properly understood in contexts where strategic decisions are predominately based on numbers and data, which is still common practice in most organisations. Strategic Designers are also not helped by the fact that design is established as something accessible. Resources about design tools and methods are readily available to most people, and often portrayed as something that everyone can apply. How can a Strategic Designer, who studied for 5 years (e.g. at the Delft University of Technology), then explain what they can bring to the table, compared to somebody who watched a video about Design Thinking once?

Obviously, this scenario is exaggerated, but the struggle to formulate exactly what a Strategic Designer has to offer, seems to be quite common. This is demonstrated by the fact that the Strategic Product Design Master even dedicates a course to addressing this problem.

A traditional approach to address this problem would be to measure performance using metrics, or Key Performance Indicators, but this is not something that Strategic Designers are generally enthusiastic about. Instead they might question whether everything that matters can be measured, and vice versa.

This response to performance measurement is admittedly logical, but it does not help to better explain Strategic Design. Instead accepting the challenge of applying a KPI, and creating something that does work, seems like a more appropriate response for a Strategic Designer, and proved to be an engaging challenge.

8

## 1.2 Approach

The main body of the project's content can be divided into three different phases, followed by validation and a discussion, which are explained below. Figure 1.1 shows an overview of the project's structure.

#### Problem framing

The first phase of the process consisted of literature research. Firstly, literature was researched to establish to what extent the problem described in the introduction is in line with research. This led to the design brief. Secondly, literature was researched to explore the problem, gain a thorough understanding of the topic, and to define a relevant scope for the project.

#### Solution framing

The second phase of the process consisted of a qualitative study. This study served to generate knowledge that was necessary to create a Strategic Design KPI, but did not yet exist.

#### Design phase

The third phase was a design phase. Firstly, more existing knowledge from various sources was gathered in order to gain the necessary means to translate the qualitative study results into a practical result. Subsequently, all previously gathered knowledge was synthesised in order to create the Strategic Design KPI.

#### Validation and discussion

The final result was validated using two example projects as cases. Lastly, a discussion of the limitations and contribution of the results rounds off the project.



Figure 1.1: Project approach

# 2. Problem framing:

Why and when is measuring Strategic Design performance difficult, and why is this a problem?

This chapter provides an overview of the literature study that was conducted in order to explore the essence of the problem that is addressed in this project.

Given the fact that the starting point of this project was a personal observation, the first step is to validate to what extent this can be supported by research, and to determine the most relevant goals for this project. This resulted in the design brief.

Subsequently, Strategic Design literature, and performance measurement literature was explored to develop a theoretical background on which to base the rest of the project.

## 2.1 Problem statement

Despite the field of design being relatively young it has already seen a significant evolution since its origin (Cooper, 2019). It has moved beyond styling and the creation of products, into the domain of services, systems, and everything in between, as described by Buchanan's 4 orders of design (2001), and portrayed in figure 2.1. Through this evolution, design has become an increasingly popular, and suitable field for innovation, and addressing ill-defined, or even wicked problems - problems that are seemingly impossible to solve due to a lack of available information, and the involvement of many, often contradictory stakeholder perspectives (Cooper, 2019; Sanders & Stappers, 2012).

12

The scope and influence of design continues to expand rapidly, and has been moving into the domain of organisational/business strategy as well. This has resulted in the emergence of a form of design which can be described as Strategic Design (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016). Strategic Design is characterised by its long-term focus, and emphasis on Product Service Systems - the holistic combination of solutions throughout all 4 orders of design (Meroni, 2008).

While the field of design has been evolving, the world is increasingly facing challenges that require us to fundamentally adapt the world around us, and innovate differently from before (Cooper, 2019). These are challenges such as achieving social and environmental sustainability, creating solutions for the 'new normal' society following the corona crisis, or a myriad of other challenges. The necessity to address these challenges, is an opportunity for Strategic Designers to make an impact through Figure 2.1: 4 orders of design (Buchanan, 2001). their unique focus and approach to innovation.

The potential impact of Strategic Design is not limited to only charitable solutions to global challenges, however. Multiple studies have found a strong correlation between \$45k the design capability of companies and their monetary success relative to less design capable companies. The Design Management Institute (2015) measured a 211% return on investments over a 10-year period in designcentric companies, compared to the S&P 500 - a stock market index that measures the stock \$15k performance of 500 large companies listed on stock exchanges in the United States. This was not a one-time occurrence, as 2015 marked the third consecutive year that the relative return of these design-centric companies was over Figure 2.2: Design Value Index 2005-2015 (Design 200%, as seen in figure 2.2.





Management Institute, 2015).

Similar results were found by McKinsey (2018), as they found that: "Companies with top-quartile McKinsey Design Index scores outperformed industry-benchmark growth by as much as two to one". These findings are about the application of design in general, however both also emphasise that design is especially valuable, when it is implemented throughout the entire organisation including at management and strategic levels (McKinsey, 2018; Design Management Institute, 2015).

Based on these findings, one could think that organisations and companies will be lining up to hire Strategic Designers for influential functions, yet this is not always the case. In practice, the relatively new Strategic Design field does not have a lot of influence in most organisations (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016).

One major obstacle for the successful application of any type of design, is that few companies truly understand how to apply/ embed design, and that designers often lack the means to justify their efforts (McKinsey, 2018; Frog Design, 2017). This is troublesome for all designers, but especially problematic for newer design disciplines, such as Strategic Designers. Newer design disciplines have a shorter, and often less tangible legacy, which can be used to explain/justify their work, than for example product designers.

McKinsey (2018) also points out that the ability to objectively measure design performance "Less than 5% of the is one of the key factors that determine a companies surveyed company's design potential, but that more reported that their than half of the companies they surveyed leaders could make admit that they are not able to do so. Less than objective design 5 percent of the surveyed companies reported decisions." that their leaders could make objective design decisions (see figure 2.3), which results in insufficient support by decision makers for proposed design solutions. As a result, Figure 2.3: Findings from McKinsey (2018) about design/innovation projects receive insufficient the challenges of applying design. investment for them to be properly developed further, and are consequently not reaching their full potential impact.



"Just over 50% [of the companies surveyed] admitted that they have no objective way to assess or set targets for the output of their design teams."

These findings are in line with Frog Design's (2017) research about the value of design, and both McKinsey, and Frog Design stress the importance of applying metrics/KPIs in order to make design efforts measurable, and more importantly: understandable. Applying metrics/KPIs should enable designers to explain their work more effectively to their leaders/managers, and involved decision-makers, which should allow them to gain more influence and apply design more effectively.

Unfortunately, McKinsey does not provide any suggestion for metrics or KPIs in their research. Frog Design (2017) provides a list of KPIs that could be used to measure the value of design, such as revenue, market share and customer acquisition. The problem with these KPIs is that they are mostly retrospective, and do not provide actionable insights for designers and their leadership.

This leaves Strategic Designers at a disadvantage, when it comes to explaining, or justifying their efforts, and unable to deal with the aforementioned issues caused by a lack of understanding for their work.

To summarise; design has the potential to be a suitable field for dealing with global issues, and its value has been proven in practice, especially when it is also applied at a strategic level. However, the lack of suitable metrics leaves Strategic Designers unable to justify and explain their efforts, and to receive the responsibility and influence required to apply the full extent of their capabilities.

For these reasons, the goal of this graduation project is:

to design a Key Performance Indicator or metric for Strategic Designers, with the goal to be able to justify and explain their efforts.

14

## 2.2 Theoretical background

In order to understand how to design a Strategic Design KPI, it is important to understand exactly why it is so difficult to do so. This means that a clear image of what distinguishes Strategic Design from other design fields, as well as from other strategy-oriented fields, is necessary. Furthermore, it is necessary to understand what performance is, what performance measurement traditionally means, and how it relates to Strategic Design.

The following section goes into these details, and serves as an overview of what knowledge currently exists, where blind spots are, and consequently what the scope of this project is.

## **Defining Strategic Design**

Strategic Design can be described as "the professional field in which designers use their principles, tools, and methods to influence strategic decision making" (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016). It is commonly characterised by:

- Creative problem solving; like the rest of the design field, but unlike traditional strategic fields, Strategic Design applies creativity and creative techniques to predominantly deal with problems (or opportunities) that are ill-defined (Cross, 2006; Sanders & Stappers, 2012), meaning that the exact problem (and therefore solution space) are not clear from the start.
- Involving multiple stakeholders; designers are often tasked with projects that involve multiple stakeholders, with their own perspectives, and are responsible for finding a way to satisfy possibly conflicting needs (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016; Sanders & Stappers, 2012).
- a long-term orientation, and usually on intangible outcomes relative to other design fields. This can be at a service, or systems level - the 3rd and 4th order of design as described by Buchanan (2001), or on the combination - Product Service Systems, as described by Meroni (2008).

Long-term orientation; unlike other design fields, Strategic Design focusses on projects with

These characteristics are reflected in the work of Strategic Designers which can typically involve:

- Intermediate results; meaning that the results are not an end-point or final product, but lead to more activities down the line. Examples of such results are future visions, roadmaps, and brand strategies (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016).
- Divergent values; meaning that the type of results and added value that can be delivered can vary per stakeholder, and for each project (Bos-de Vos, 2020). This means that Strategic Design does not follow a clear cut, or fixed approach.
- High uncertainty; meaning that Strategic Design is not focussed on day-to-day innovations, such as product and service development, but rather on higher level and more radical innovations, such as new ways of working, and innovation strategies. Note that this does not mean 'radical innovation' as described by Verganti, (2009), but rather describes the scope and uncertainty in which Strategic Designers work.

Figure 2.4 shows a visual overview of these elements.

Despite Strategic Designers' focus on innovation, they can still work in various contexts. However, in order to narrow the scope of the project, a choice has been made to focus on Strategic Designers in a commercially oriented innovation context, or in other words: a business context. A business context was chosen, because that is the most common context in which performance measurement is applied. More specifically, performance measurement is usually associated with large scale, for-profit organisations; more colloquially referred to as corporates.

Simply put, Strategic Designers can work in one of two business contexts; internal - as an embedded part of an organisation, or external - as an independent party hired by Figure 2.4: Characteristics of Strategic. an organisation. Although external Strategic



16



## **Understanding performance measurement**

In business terms, performance is "the accomplishment of a given task measured against pre-set known standards of accuracy, completeness, cost, and speed (Business Dictionary, N.A.)." What this means, is that performance describes the progress towards an intended result, relative to what was expected, and relative to the resources that are used to reach the result.

It is important to note that 'performance' does not describe the intended results itself, such as quality or value, but it specifically addresses the progress towards such goals. These goals can vary from financial goals, such as revenue, returns, or profits, to other goals, such as customer satisfaction. The 'resources' used can be many different things, but are typically financial means (money), and/or time spent.

Performance measurement refers to the act of quantitatively assessing and expressing performance (Peterson, 2006). Quantitative expressions of performance are known as performance indicators. The performance indicators that are most important to an organisation, describing what is considered to be crucial to the organisation's success, are what is known as Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Most organisations use a set of multiple KPIs, which vary between organisations.

In short, A KPI is a number which conveys essential information about the progress towards an objective, in relation to the needs/expectations of stakeholders (Peterson, 2006; Rodriguez, Saiz & Bas, 2009; Sinclair & Zairi, 1995).

Although there can be slight variations in the exact definitions, 'metrics' and 'KPIs' will be used interchangeably throughout this project, as they refer to roughly the same concept.

Despite a wide availability of very different KPIs, there are three characteristics that they share. The key characteristics that make up a KPI/metric are (Peterson, 2006):

- Quantitative; KPIs can take many different quantitative forms, such as rates, ratios, and scores, and are expressed in numbers, however, never in raw data.
- Time based; KPIs should be comparable, and should therefore have a clear relationship with time. This can mean that time is accounted for within the KPI as a resource, or that the KPI is measured over a standard period.
- Actionable; KPIs should provide insights which can be used in order to make grounded decisions about how to act in order to reach the intended goals.

An easy example of a KPI (which is also relatively common), is return on investment (ROI). In this case, spending on an investment is compared to earnings from that investment, with the goal to maximise profits (Investopedia, N.A.). In this case, cost/money spent is the resource, Net Return on Investment and money earned determines the progress ROI X 100% towards the goal of profitability. It tells an Cost of Investment organisation how effective an investment is in relation to their goals.

The reason organisations measure performance, is because performance measurement (if done correctly) is believed to ensure alignment of efforts and goals (Lynch & Cross, 1991), thus giving grounded direction to a company, and leading to better overall (financial) results (Gates, 1999). What this means, is that measuring performance allows organisations to gain insight into how well they are achieving their goals, and how to act accordingly.

### Measuring design performance

As pointed out by Mckinsey's (2018), measuring design performance is a significant challenge for many companies. There are multiple reasons for this. Firstly, designers have been known to be reluctant to embrace metrics in their work (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2018). This is not surprising, given the challenges associated with performance measurement, and how they negatively affect design in general, as well as Strategic Design. The problems with performance measurement are that it;

- has traditionally been predominantly financially oriented (Bruns, 1998),
- is usually only retrospective, and provides insufficient information about future performance (Dixon et al., 1990; Hayes and Abernathy, 1980),
- favours acting upon short term gains, rather than long-term, sustainable gains (Kaplan, 1986),
- focuses internally, with little regard for competitors or customers (Kaplan & Norton, 1992; Neely et al.,1995),
- lacks insight on a strategic level (Skinner, 1974),
- and most importantly, often inhibits innovation (Richardson & Gordon, 1980, Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2018).

At the heart of the issues associated with measuring design performance lies a mismatch between the worldview on which design, and performance measurement are based. Performance measurement is based on the notion that everything can be quantitatively explained. Design on the other hand is far more qualitatively focussed.

These fundamentally different worldviews have also been found and described in the world of academics. Denscombe (2008) describes these worldviews as the following: on one hand, there is positivism, which in short assumes that there is an objective truth/reality, which can be seen free of interpretation. Positivism is characterised by quantitative research, and deductive reasoning. Interpretivism, on the other hand, sees truth/reality as subjective, and something that cannot be separated from its context and interpretation. This is characterised by qualitative research, and inductive research, and inductive reasoning.

In practice, businesses are often managed from a positivist perspective, and the quantitative focus of performance measurement is a manifestation of this. Design on the other hand, is characterised by its qualitative approach, and focus on people's experiences.

Seeing how fundamentally different these worldviews are, it is no surprise that design and performance measurement have traditionally not gone hand-in-hand. However, a lot of research has gone into the downsides of traditional performance measurement (Sanchez & Robert, 2010), and companies have been known to try to evolve their performance measurement systems accordingly in order to reflect their changing business environments (Eccles, 1991; Neely, 1999). In other words, the mismatch between performance measurement and design is not definitive.

18

In order to bridge the gap between the two, a third worldview is required that allows for the two worldviews to be understood from the perspective of the other. Denscombe (2008) also describes what this worldview is: pragmatism. Pragmatism (see figure 2.5) is a worldview that accepts the possibilities and limitations of the other two, and combines approaches from both as necessary. It is therefore neither exclusively quantitative or qualitative, but instead focuses on what is necessary and possible to the desired outcome. In practice, this is not an easy worldview for decision making, as it can be difficult to achieve the clarity of positivism - which is a relatively 'black and white' worldview, and the nuance of interpretivism - which would be a collection of greys.

A practical example of a pragmatic metric is Formula 1 driver ratings. Every team has performance goals with regard to a season, which is measured through points, which are won through races. Performance during a race comes down to average lap times. These lap times are influenced by a tremendous number of factors, however. This means that knowing how to improve them can be difficult. Examples of relevant factors are: the car and its various different set-ups, tire degradation pitstop times, track characteristics, etcetera. Formula 1 teams measure as much as possible to be able to predict and influence them, to get the best chance of success.

One essential part of the success of Formula 1 teams is their drivers. In the end, the drivers win or lose the races, and being human, they are relatively unpredictable. Measuring a driver's abilities just by race results would be inaccurate, as there are many aspects that influence the outcome, that cannot be influenced, such as the weather, accidents, and other teams' strategies. To overcome this blind spot in performance measurement in Formula 1, data driven as it is, driver ratings were developed.

Driver ratings are the result of an extremely complex collection of both qualitative and quantitative data, which give a nice and simple indication of one driver's abilities, relative to that of others. This means that an aspect which used to be uncertain and unpredictable, has become more or less measurable. Obviously, the driver score is not perfect, and cannot explain everything, but it is a simple, quantitative indication of a complex, uncertain factor that is extremely important for overall success.



Figure 2.5: The pragmatic worldview.

### Measuring Strategic Design performance

Performance measurement has evolved beyond the traditional, purely financial perspective, and there are multiple metrics available to capture other perspectives, including multiple usercentric metrics, such as customer retention and Net Promoter Scores (NPS), as well as other non-financial metrics, such as brand equity and speed to market (Frog Design, 2017). These can be relevant for (strategic) designers, however there are shortcomings.

Despite being useful at certain stages, any singular metric is insufficient for measuring performance of anything involving multiple stakeholders, as it will be too one-sided (Doyle, 1994). Furthermore, the long-term orientation of Strategic Design complicates the application of result-oriented metrics, as they do not provide actionable insights during a project, but rather retrospective judgement (Parmenter, 2015). As a result, any single KPI will not provide actionable insights for Strategic Designers, as it cannot be representative of variation in results per project, or how the work of Strategic Designers influenced performance in later stages of the project.

There are ways to deal with these blind spots however, but not without other shortcomings for Strategic Designers. Measurement systems such as the Balanced Scorecard (Kaplan & Norton, 1992) and strategy maps (Kaplan et al., 2004) can help to provide insight into how different stakeholder perspectives relate, but they provide little insight for innovation with high uncertainty, and have been criticised to be an oversimplified representation of reality (Parmenter, 2015).

Similarly, Strategic Performance Measurement Systems (SPMS) can shed light on how performance of different groups at different stages influence each other, but have not proven to be a consistently effective tool to base decisions for innovation on. When Strategic Performance Measurement Systems have been applied for innovation successfully, the effect was limited to incremental innovations only, as the SPMS had helped to build capabilities that were suitable for improving existing processes, but not for creating new ones (Micheli, & Manzoni, 2010).

Regardless of the irrelevance to strategic designers of such systems as a whole, there are elements which are useful. For example, the ability to balance multiple aspects of performance, and to justify intermediate results. This includes metrics such as innovation culture (Dobni, 2008), and intangible assets such as organisation capital (Kaplan & Norton, 2004), which both indicate how able an organisation Figure 2.6: Mismatch between Strategic Design is to innovate.

Figure 2.6 shows a visual overview of the

previously described characteristics of Strategic Designer's work relative to the types of performance measurement discussed in this section. The green arrows represent positive aspects of performance measurement types relative to Strategic Designer's work characteristics.

- 20 •

Balanced Scorecard Relationship between different stakeholder perspectives Intermediate Divergent results values Little insight in an innovation between Too oneerformance sided of different Only groups at retrospective different judgement stages Singular SPMS metrics ncremental ertain staaes High uncertainty = problematic aspects = positive aspects

and types of performance measurement.

limiting aspects

For a more uncertainty-oriented approach to applying metrics, Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen (2018) suggest that designers try to apply assumption-based planning techniques, such as Discovery Driven Planning (DDP). Discovery Driven Planning can help to deal with ill-defined goals, and uncertainty (McGrath & MacMillan, 1995), by breaking up vague business goals, and setting increasingly specific sub-goals, as the subject matter becomes clearer. What this does from a performance measurement perspective, is to postpone the application of metrics, until a point is reached where the most suitable metric for the subject matter can be chosen, and addressed.

There is a problem with this approach, however; it does not fully cover the work of a Strategic Designer. Methods, such as Discovery Driven Planning, require a vague business goal to begin with, as well as commitment from the involved stakeholders to invest in the development of the innovation, before reaching a state at which they can realistically apply existing metrics. This means that Strategic Designers are not required to justify their work with metrics until the point that other metrics become applicable. This leaves a blind spot for Strategic Design performance in the early stages of an innovation project, and can only work if Strategic Designers are given the freedom and faith to develop a project until it reaches the point that metrics can be applied. In other words, methods such as Discovery Driven Planning are insufficient, from a performance measurement perspective, during the early stages of an innovation project.

To summarise, there are metrics that are usable for different elements of Strategic Design throughout different stages of a design process, but nothing fully covers all characteristics, especially in early stages of an innovation process, where the uncertainty is the highest and organisations are not yet committed to a specific direction (typically described as the fuzzy front end).

neutral consideration

### The fuzzy front end

The fuzzy front end is the name commonly given to the early stages of an innovation project (commonly visualised as in figure 2.7). Sanders & Stappers (2012) point out that the fuzzy front end has been growing and gaining importance over the last ten years (at their time of writing).

In short, the fuzzy front end can be described as the first stage of an innovation process, where nothing is clear or known, guestions are open ended, and results are not predetermined. As a result, the activities are messy and chaotic in nature.

What is striking, is that what makes the fuzzy front end chaotic (or fuzzy), shares fundamental characteristics with what makes Strategic Design so hard to understand and measure from a business perspective. Namely Figure 2.7: The fuzzy front end of innovation the ill-defined problems, and resulting high uncertainty.



(Sanders & Stappers, 2012).

Costs of

changes

Information

Influence

Innovation process (time)

In a (competitive) business environment the timing of innovations relative to competitors can make tremendous differences, adding another layer of complexity, as not only is nothing clear,

Fuzzy

front

end

time may be limited too. Furthermore, as things become clearer, they can also be clearer for competitors.

In a way, in a business context, the fuzzy front end can be seen as if a person goes into a maze at night, and is tasked with finding a treasure before somebody else does. The exact location and nature of the treasure, and whether or not there are others in the maze are unknown. All the person can do in this case is to start moving, and try to gain the information they need as they go. Being in the dark, however, this is not an easy task.

Despite the fact that the fuzzy front end end (von Hippel, 1993). is characterised by a lack of information



compared to the rest of an innovation process, it is where Strategic Designers - or any innovators - have the biggest influence on the end result. As innovations become more concrete, and more becomes known, the room for changes also decreases, while the cost of changes increases (as presented in figure 2.8). This means that innovators that can deal with uncertainty in a meaningful way - such as Strategic Designers - can be of significant importance. As previously established, however, their ability to do so in a business context is limited by the lack of suitable metrics. Overall, this means that Strategic Design performance is not only most relevant during the fuzzy front end, the biggest improvement on the influence of Strategic Design can be gained from a suitable Strategic Design KPI for the fuzzy front end as well.

22

## Measuring performance in the fuzzy front end

The lack of metrics for Strategic Designers in the fuzzy front end, comes down to the inability to evaluate the development of content at a stage when it can still serve to improve that development. This is because of the uncertainty that characterises the Strategic Designers' work in that phase. This can be described as the inability to measure what 'doing the right thing' is in the eyes of decision-making stakeholders.

Alternatively, process metrics can be a solution for dealing with long term processes, where content related metrics are not sufficiently insightful (Eddy, 1998). This can be seen as applying measurement to evaluate when Strategic Designers are 'doing things right'.

For innovation within a business context, traditionally, stage gate models are used to apply process measurements (Sommer et al., 2015). The problem for Strategic Designers, however, is that stage gates have been found to lack the flexibility that modern problem solving requires (Sommer et al., 2015). Agile process metrics provide an alternative which provides more flexibility than stage gates, but have been found to lack long-term insight (Chan & Thong, 2009), which also makes it unsuitable for Strategic Design.

A hybrid system could be a way to combine the long-term compatibility of stage gates, with the flexibility of agile metrics, however so far there has been little evidence that such hybrids are in fact effective (Bianchi, Marzi, & Guerini, 2018). Furthermore, both approaches rely primarily on productivity measurements, which reduces the notion of measuring 'doing things right' to only 'doing', as the uncertain nature of Strategic Designer's work and the fuzzy front end inhibit the ability to evaluate what is right, at a time that it is still actionable.

Ultimately, this means that in order to measure Strategic Design performance in the fuzzy front end, the method that is most likely suitable, is to measure based on process, but not limit it to productivity only. This type of metrics will be referred to as process-based metrics. Figure 2.9 shows how these different layers of metrics can be seen relatively to each other on a scale from content oriented to process oriented.



Figure 2.9: Process-based metrics relative to other types of metrics.

To summarise, no existing metrics and measurement systems are suitable for the combination of the key characteristics of Strategic Design and the work of Strategic Designers. This is especially relevant during the fuzzy front end. In theory, process metrics can be applied in order to measure Strategic Design performance in the fuzzy front end, however due to the uncertain nature of the fuzzy front end and the work of Strategic Designers, productivity-oriented process metrics are insufficient.

Metrics based on the process, but not limited to productivity only - now referred to as process-based metrics - should be the most likely way to create a suitable KPI for Strategic Design performance during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process.

-based ics	Result metrics	Content
things nt'	'The right thing'	related

# 3. Solution framing:

measured?

As pointed out in the previous chapter, process-based metrics should be the most likely way to create a KPI for Strategic Design performance during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process. However, the knowledge required in order to create this process-based metric, does not currently exist.

This chapter elaborates on the qualitative study that was conducted in order to find the exact process-based elements that can be translated into a Strategic Design KPI.

### How can Strategic Design performance in the fuzzy front end be

## 3.1 Method

The following section explains how the qualitative study was conducted. The second section is an overview of the findings, and the final section is a short summary of the conclusions that were drawn from the findings.

### Approach

Given the fact that the research is about creating new knowledge on a subject about which little theory is currently available, a qualitative approach is most suitable (Patton, 1990).

More specifically, the Grounded Theory Method (Glaser & Strauss, 1968; 2017), was used to inductively build up theory which is grounded in the data itself.

Data was collected through a series of semistructured interviews with Strategic Designers working in practice. The following sections go into more detail about the way the study was conducted. Figure 3.1 shows an overview of the different steps and elements of the research, as also further explained throughout this section.

### **Research questions**

The qualitative study was conducted based on the following research question:

How can process-based metrics be used to measure the performance of Strategic Designers, during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process?

In order to answer the research question, the following sub-questions were explored:

1. What makes a Strategic design process in the fuzzy front end successful?

2. How do different elements of a Strategic Design process, such as activities, and deliverables, influence the quality of the outcome?

3. Which attributes of a Strategic Design process can be measured?



Figure 3.1: Qualitative study research approach.

26

### **Data collection**

Data was gathered through 6 semi-structured interviews, as described by Patton (2002), with Strategic Designers (see participant selection). Each interview was 1-1,5 hours, during which the participants made a process map of a project (see case/project selection). The interviews were structured according to the process map, starting at high level information, for example the different phases of a project, and going into more detail as the interview progressed. Furthermore, as the interview progressed, the questions went from a more empirical focus on events, to a more experience oriented and reflective focus in order to gain rich insights into the nuances of Strategic Design performance. The interview guide that was used can be found in appendix A.

All interviews were recorded, and subsequently transcribed excluding any content, person, or company details, that can be considered sensitive.

The process map each participant made was a timeline of a past fuzzy front end project, in which they made a visual overview of all phases, steps, activities, milestones etcetera, and reflected on how different elements of the timeline influenced the success of the outcome.

It was made in order to gain deeper insights by grounding the participants' answers in past experiences, and to avoid hypothetical answers, following a context mapping approach (Sanders, & Stappers, 2012). The process maps were all made digitally using 'Miro', which is a digital whiteboard.

What context mapping comes down to, is using tactile/visual mediums to let research participants create overviews of their past experiences. Customer journeys are a famous example of context mapping. In this case, a process map served to gain more insight into Strategic Design processes practice.

### **Participant selection**

As explained in chapter 2.2, Strategic Designers can work in multiple contexts, but the scope for this project was limited to those that work internally for corporates. Participants were found through personal connections and LinkedIn. Figure 3.2 shows an overview of the sample.

Participants were selected based on the following criteria:

- Strategic Designers; by function/title, or education.
  - Meaning they work on innovation projects, with a long-term orientation, and multiple • involved stakeholders.
  - Using design (related) tools, methods, and/or approaches.
- Working internally for a corporate. •
- Involved in the fuzzy front end of innovation projects.

Participant	Function	Experience	Company industry	Design team structure
P1	Innovation lead	~10 years	Publishing	Independant
P2	Innovation coordinator	~1 year	Mobility	Internal incubator
P3	Innovation lead	~25 years	Finance	Internal incubator
P4	Innovation manager	~15 years	Legal council	Innovation department
P5	Design strategist	~6 years	Healthcare	Innovation department
P6	Innovation manager	~3 years	Insurance	Innovation department

28

Figure 3.2: Research sample.

## Case/project selection

As previously mentioned, the process maps were made, based on a Strategic Design process, which the participant completed in the past, and which was selected by them. In order to ensure comparability between participants, the participants were asked to choose a project based on the following criteria.

The project should have:

- (in part) been the direct responsibility of the participant; for both the process, and the outcomes.
- recently resulted in intermediate results for further development by others, marking the end of the fuzzy front end.
- been an (early stage) innovation project, with: •
  - High uncertainty; an ill-defined problem, and no predefined solution space
  - Long-term orientation
  - Multiple involved stakeholders

### **Analysis**

Following the GTM data analysis steps as described by Glaser & Strauss (1967; 2017), each interview transcript was firstly coded; separating, and organising the content while remaining as close to what was said as possible. This resulted in 106 codes, describing what participants were discussing, such as:

- Measuring success based on stakeholder enthusiasm
- Importance of expertise for idea generation
- Indirect added value
- Reliability of knowledge
- Estimating quality on the basis of intuition (logic and experience)

Subsequently, the codes were clustered based on common themes, which were used in order to start forming theory based on the data. This resulted in 15 categories, such as:

- Impossibility of measurement
- Quantifying arguments
- Predicting the future
- Structure & creativity •

Finally, the process maps were analysed in order to gain insight into how the different categories relate within a fuzzy front end process, using the themes as a guide. The following 6 themes emerged from the research, and were used in order to formulate the final theory;

- Commitment
- Content quality
- Justifying progress
- Measurement
- Motivation
- Trade-offs

Figure 3.3 shows a simplified example of one of the process maps.

Memos were used in order to keep track of emerging categories and themes during the coding process. Examples of such topics are:

- The role of the validity and understandability of logic embedded in results
- The effect of a predetermined direction.
- The importance of presenting

Based on the themes, the codes were compared again to find differences between participants, in order to develop a more nuanced theory. In the end, the results mostly describe what was common between participants, in order to avoid drawing conclusions based on a participants' personal beliefs, that are not common, or shared by other Strategic Designers. This was done to make the final results more widely applicable, and reliable for a broader potential user group. Examples of aspects where participants had widely different stances are:

- Whether or not potential user insights are a good foundation for fuzzy front end development
- The importance of a systematic approach to idea generation
- The value of indirect benefits of proposed results



Figure 3.3: Simplified overview of a process map

## **3.2 Findings**

The findings of the qualitative study are explained in this section. Where possible, findings are supported by guotes - all translated from Dutch to English. A big portion of the findings emerged from a large number of explanations, however, so not everything can be easily summed up in a comprehensible quote.

### The process in short

The following paragraph is primarily based on the process maps. The findings described in this section serve to sketch a general image of a fuzzy front end process, help to understand the structure of a Strategic Design approach, and give context to the rest of the interview findings.

As the name 'fuzzy front end' implies, the process, starting point and outcomes are not clear cut, and vary significantly between and within organisations. However, from a bird's eye view, there are commonalities that characterise the process, and give insight into how the process can be more predictable.

In short, the fuzzy front end starts with the choice to explore an opportunity - in the broad sense of the word; including problems, a lack of opportunities, or search areas - and finishes when the organisation commits to further development of a more concrete version of the opportunity. This means that the opportunity is developed into a specific direction, but not a final outcome, for example, a value proposition, a concept, a future vision etcetera.

The origin of the initial opportunity also widely differs, but can be summed up by three categories:

- Internal; starting from an (internal) guestion, or request to explore an internal topic. In these cases, it can be challenging to convey the necessity to act upon a direction.
- External; starting from an external opportunity, or changing external factors. The 'burning • platform' as research participants called it, can be more present, making the necessity of a direction more obvious. The challenge then lies in conveying why a particular direction is suitable.
- Mutual: Ideally (as innovation literature also tells us), both internal and external factors align. making both the necessity, and the choice for a particular direction easier to grasp.

Although the origin of the opportunity affects the process, and even the potential success, it is unpredictable, or even random to the process. Therefore, it cannot fairly reflect the performance of a Strategic Designer. As a Strategic Designer, it is advisable to keep the origin of a process in mind, and understand how it can affect success, but it is not a good attribute to base a KPI, or metric on.

As can be expected from a design perspective, the process typically follows a 'double diamond' structure, as popularised by the British Design Council (2005). This means that it is not a linear process, but involves iterations of diverging activities (gathering research insights, and ideating) and converging activities (synthesising insight, and developing ideas) in two main phases. The first phase (Discover & Define) being about defining a problem-solution fit - again in the broad definition of the words - based on the initial opportunity. The second phase (Develop & Deliver) is about creating a more concrete direction based on this problem-solution fit. With some slight variations to the original model, this double diamond structure of multiple phases of diverging and converging could be found in the process of all 6 participants,

The process varies in length (3-12 months, most commonly 6 within the research sample), but the time is not equally divided between the phases. The first diamond is often (for 5 of 6 participants) much shorter, because the organisation/Strategic Design team chooses to focus their efforts more on the activities of the second diamond (ideation and development), than on the activities of the first diamond (research and scoping). In most cases (5 out of 6), the diverging steps are also more time consuming due to the involvement of stakeholders in the activities, which simply adds calendars to conform to, and slows down the process.

Figure 3.4 is a visual framework of the process in which Strategic Designers operate.



Figure 3.4: Strategic Design process phases overview.

### Commitment

As previously mentioned, the fuzzy front end can be considered to be finished when the organisation commits to further development of a proposed direction. This commitment is achieved when the quality of the content and the level of support from the organisation (both will be further explained in the following sections) reach an implicit required level.

It is important to note that content quality and support levels are not neatly separated in practice, and often not separately addressable. However, they are distinctly different dimensions of success, which are influenced differently, and reflect different aspects of the Strategic Designer's performance.

The levels of quality and support required for commitment can be seen as implicit, as they are not explicitly defined, measured, or even discussed. All participants pointed out that they did not have a standard, or formal way to judge the quality of their work, but instead, approval/ justification of the quality happens through qualitative conversations, without explicit targets that must be met. For the level of support, this implicit nature goes even further, as it is often not explicitly addressed at all, but rather something that the Strategic Designers try to influence throughout the process by their actions.

To summarise in terms of the process, the responsibilities of a Strategic Designer come down to a combination of creating sufficient quality of the content (content development), and achieving a sufficient level of support from stakeholders (stakeholder management). Although these aspects of the Strategic Designer's work are separate dimensions of success, they can mutually influence each other, as will be further explained below.

### **Content development**

As previously stated, content development happens through diverging, and converging activities, which is a rather high level, neutral way of describing what happens, and not an informative basis for better understanding performance during the fuzzy front end.

There are many different ways to describe these activities in a more specific way, and all participants had different wording to describe what they did, but when comparing all of them, an underlying logic became apparent.

Below, two ways of explaining the activities of a Strategic Design process are described, which emerged during the coding process. The first is a more content related way of describing a Strategic Design process, which sheds more light on why measuring quality and performance is so complicated, and how it can be addressed. The second way of describing the activities of a Strategic Design process goes deeper into the working principles, and serves as a basis for the measurable attributes of the process on which a KPI/metric can be based.

Figure 3.5 shows how these two ways of looking at the process relate to the content-process metric scale which was described in chapter 2.2.



Figure 3.5: Perspectives of content development relative to process-based metrics.

### **Process-content relationship**

Looking closer at the content, in essence, the job of the Strategic Designer is to predict the future. Whether it is a matter of an ideal future, the most likely future, or most commonly a combination of the two, the main goal of the fuzzy front end is to go from what is currently available, and create a meaningful prediction/goal for the future. Gathering the required information to base these predictions on, can be seen as an attempt to gain certainty in the fuzziness of the fuzzy front end, and to create a believable foundation for these predictions.

So in the terms of the process, developing the content of the fuzzy front end can be seen as the constantly going back and forth (iterations) of predicting the future, and gaining certainty (see figure 3.6). All participants used different words to describe this process, for example 'formulating hypotheses' (P1), or 'framing the potential of a direction' (P4), but what they all have in common, is that they apply current knowledge in order to make claims about the future.



Figure 3.6: Strategic Design content development.

In this tension between current knowledge, and claims about the future lies the crux of why measuring content quality in the fuzzy front end is so challenging; it is impossible (be it unfeasible, unviable, or both) to accurately measure any representative aspect of quality of something that does not currently exist, especially if that something can still change. As a research participant explained it:

#### "As soon as you can measure it quantitatively, you know what you are working on. Then you have actually already passed the fuzzy front end. [...] Metrics always exist by the grace of the past." (P1)

Furthermore, quantitatively judging quality requires an image of what a successful outcome is, which is also something that is usually not present in the fuzzy front end, as was also pointed out in chapter 2.2. A participant explained it as such:

## "All projects guide the goals and the goals guide the projects. So, it is a mishmash an d an interplay." (P2)

This means that by the time a clear image of success (and thus quality, and consequently performance) can be formed and measured, the Strategic Designer has already put in a tremendous amount of work which cannot be realistically addressed from a measurement perspective, given this way of looking at the content and process.

So instead of judging quality quantitatively, judging the quality of the work of the Strategic Designer happens qualitatively. All participants pointed out that they have qualitative conversations about their content, within their team, with management, and/or with stakeholders, in order to develop, test, and justify what they were creating. This happens in various forms, such as:

- informal weekly meetings with direct managers to discuss the content in detail (P1)
- organised sessions before presentation to management, with the whole team where they 'roast' or nit-pick on their own presentations to find and address potential problems (P2)
- interview-like 'validation' sessions with involved stakeholders (P5)
- opportunistic/ad hoc 'chats' when the Strategic Designer runs into involved stakeholders in the building (P6)

These conversations can, strictly speaking, be seen as subjective. Quality in this case is a matter of perspective and interpretation, and thus subject to the influence of personal opinion. However, two thirds of the research participants explicitly pointed them out as being one of the most crucially beneficial aspects of their process, in terms of achieving quality and success. The reason for this, as one participant explained:

#### "You come up with something, and your intuition gives you a hunch. And actually, still before you have the idea, you already rationalised it. [...] When the right idea is there, we rationalise why it is a good idea... Maybe it is actually a lot more intuitive than that." (P3)

So, in other words, in practice, people intuitively estimate the quality/value of a direction quite well, before being able to fully rationalise it. From a positivist perspective (see chapter 1.2), this can seem unreliable and risky, however from a design perspective it makes sense, as it allows people to work from their experiences, and to make creative decisions. From a strategy perspective, being able to make these creative decisions is what makes design valuable, as these creative leaps allow an organisation to create truly novel ideas, and to avoid 'low hanging fruit', as one of the participants (P1) described it.

All of this does not mean that there is no place for performance measurement in the fuzzy front end. As two participants (P3 & P5) pointed out, the difficulty of qualitative conversations is that people easily fall into an exchange of opinions, rather than a constructive conversation meant to develop, test, and justify what they are creating. In this context, performance measurement can help to structure these qualitative, intuitive steps, and make them more insightful, and actionable.

A side note: when available, quantitative data can allow Strategic Designers to increase the credibility - not the objectivity of their claims, or address specific topics that can be explored quantitatively such as market size estimations. However, in practice, this does not seem to be necessary for a successful fuzzy front end as not all participants do it fully, if even at all. One participant explained how they often address measurability of certain standard aspects such as market size, but that they never finalise the numbers:

"In practice, you often see that we do address measurability. For convenience, we fill in an x and tell each other we will fill it in later. We'll get to that. The project proceeds to version 2, version 3, version 4... The x always remains." (P3)

To conclude, judging the quality of content created by Strategic Designers happens qualitatively in practice, which works due to people's intuitive understanding of quality and value. From a measurement perspective, the challenge lies in being able to surface these intuitive judgements, and make them tangible and concrete, in order to estimate the Strategic Designers performance.

### Working principles

In order to surface the previously explained intuitive judgements, the second way of looking at the Strategic Design process comes into the picture. In order to make future predictions, Strategic Designers gather information (diverging in terms of the double diamond), and create logic, explaining what this information can mean (converging).

The quality of the future predictions and the achieved level of certainty thus depend on two aspects:

- 1. the quality of gathering information
- 2. the quality of the applied logic.

The first aspect; the quality of gathering information, comes down to how comprehensive the information is. Comprehensiveness is not a clear-cut objective, considering that at the time of gathering information, it is not yet clear what is required. However, gathering comprehensive information is a goal that is easier to comprehend than creating good quality content, due to the availability of tried and tested methods, and it being ground in the past and present, rather than the future. In practice, it is a matter of just getting started, gathering some information, and filling gaps where they emerge.

Comprehensiveness can be further broken down into scope (how broad is the information), and depth (how detailed is the information). Based on the data available for this research, it is impossible to say exactly how to balance these two aspects, but it comes down to a good mix of both within the available time. A broad scope prevents blind spots, more depth is more useful in applying the information.

Information in this context refers to both research insights in the first diamond, and ideas in the second. Although none of the participants identified their information gathering activities as the most important for the eventual quality, there was recognition for its importance. As a participant charmingly described it:

#### "Shit in, shit out." (P5)

What this participant meant, was that the end result can only be as good as the information that was used to achieve it. What was common in the answers of all participants, however, is that they relied heavily on other stakeholders for gathering information, other parties within their company networks most commonly (5/6). A big consideration for this is speed; network-based research is quick. Another consideration pointed out by two participants, is that Strategic Designers lack the expertise on most subjects to generate sufficiently deep insights, and consequently have to rely on the expertise of others. In the words of one of the participants:

"I think that it is very important [during ideation] to make sure you have a multidisciplinary group of people with real expertise. [...] Because if you [ideate] with only designers, I often think, it results in a bit of a fluffy fantasy story. I think that the diversity of the group is essential [during ideation]. And their experience." (P5) The second aspect; the quality of the applied logic, is where Strategic Design content is really created, and what people tend to look at, when making the previously described intuitive judgements. It is also the activities that 4 of 6 participants pointed out as being an essential part to their eventual success. It describes the efforts of the Strategic Designer to take information, and synthesise it, taking a step towards something more concrete - and valuable if done correctly - than the separate elements. The creative synthesis of information into something valuable, is what makes design valuable, but also what is so hard to understand, or quantify. In the words of one of the participants:

#### "In [the Discovery phase] we try to make concrete combinations of ideas. So, we go over all of our findings [...] and then the process emerges, which everyone is trying to understand, but still remains a bit magical. The aspect of design where you suddenly [understand how things connect]" (P3)

Intuitively judging the quality of logic, in essence comes down to the coherence of the logic, and underlying information. Three participants explained how the qualitative conversations they have, which are so critical to the success of the phase, are to test and/or develop their argumentation/story, which is a way of testing and developing the coherence. One participant explained it using the following example:

#### "So, if I tell you: well, for vegetarians, we will make a huge steak, which has lots of protein. Then you will say, hang on, I don't get it. A steak for vegetarians... That does not make sense." (P3)

What this example shows is how people are able to estimate the validity of an idea based on how logically coherent the underlying information is. In this case, the idea that somebody would buy a steak is not coherent with their vegetarian diet, so developing a type of high protein steak for them would not make sense.

In conclusion, in order to estimate content quality, and to structure intuitive judgment of the quality of Strategic Design content into actionable, and potentially measurable aspects, a distinction needs to be made between the comprehensiveness of gathered information, and the coherence of the created logic (see figure 3.7). These are both attributes that people can intuitively estimate, and are indicators of good Strategic Design content in the fuzzy front end. Together, these attributes can give a grounded (partial) indication of Strategic Design performance.



Figure 3.7: Working principles behind quality of Strategic Design content.

### Stakeholder management

As previously mentioned, the quality of the content is not the only aspect of the work of a Strategic Designer that influences their success in the fuzzy front end. Stakeholder management - achieving the required level of support from the necessary stakeholders - is the other aspect which is influenced throughout the entire process. Support in this case is the translation of the Dutch word 'draagvlak', however it does not fully cover its meaning. 'Draagvlak' in a Strategic Design context is used to describe a sense of approval, and willingness to accept responsibility for a design from stakeholders.

This level of support can again be divided into two dimensions;

- 1. managerial support
- 2. internal support.

Both levels of support are an indication of how much the stakeholder 'likes' the content. Liking the content seems subjective, which it partially is, however it is also the result of the intuitive judgement of underlying requirements for successful fuzzy front end outcomes; the strategic fit, and continuity of the idea, which are further explained below.

Obviously, the level of support is related to the quality of the content, but there are aspects of it that can be seen separately. It is also important to do so, since addressing it can require different actions than 'just making better content'. In other words, it is possible to create amazing content, yet fail the fuzzy front end. In order to avoid this, or understand why it is happening, the level of support should be addressed separately.

### Managerial support

Managerial support describes how much support management - or the decision-making unit, has for the proposed problem-solution fit/idea. Other than the quality of the content itself, this support is the result of the estimated strategic fit. Multiple (4) participants explained how their fuzzy front end was successful, or not, due to the way management supported further development of the outcomes, which was based on how well the estimated benefits matched the organisation's goals.

40

For three participants this meant that funding was allocated to the projects, and that people were made responsible for further development. For the fourth participant, a lack of managerial support meant that the proposed solution remained in a conceptual stage, where it was reworked without the involvement of the original team. In the eyes of the participant, this has led to a loss of quality and the essence of what made the concept valuable. One participant explained how a change in management determined the continuation of development of a proposed concept, that was not accepted by previous management:

"For a year, we tried to find a [way] to try such things, with the marketing department, and they just did not work out. The formal manager, and the person responsible for the website just did not agree. [...] The manager left, and someone else replaced him. [...] And when he came, and I proposed my [prototype]... Things were just suddenly possible. [...] That was a major turning point for how well we could work, and how fast we could proceed." (P4)

### Internal support

Internal support describes how much support stakeholders within the organisation have for the proposed solution. Stakeholders within the organisation can range from stakeholders who are owner of the subject/solution within the organisation, to teams responsible for further development, and to people affected by the proposed solution. The presence of internal stakeholders is the result of the size of corporates, as well as the intermediate nature of Strategic Design/fuzzy front end results.

It is determined by what can be described as continuity. The stakeholders that will be responsible for further development after the fuzzy front end need to be able to do so, as well as feel ownership, or the innovation will not succeed later on. As two participants explained it:

"What I know is that in such a deep dive, all stakeholders need to be involved. The people that will have to [continue the project later on], the people who are owners of the subject within [the company] ... Everybody needs to join, because otherwise you do not get support and then [the project] dies." (P3)

"Everybody always says, if it's a good idea, everybody will be able to work with it. It's just not true!" (P1)

## **Significance**

Similarly to statistical significance in guantitative research, there are aspects to keep in mind before drawing conclusions based on the previously described aspects of a Strategic Design process. These aspects are:

- 1. Understandability
- 2. Innovation culture

Firstly, understandability determines if judgements of the content quality are a valid indication of the actual guality. One participant pointed out how any form of gualitative judgement is only representative if the judging party understands the content sufficiently. In other words, understandability does not directly relate to the guality of the content, however any intuitive, or qualitative estimation is useless if the subject matter is not understood. For that reason, the understanding about the content should be checked in order to draw conclusions based on the qualitative judgement.

Secondly, the level of support can also be influenced by an organisation's innovation culture. Innovation culture determines how well an organisation can change (as mentioned in chapter 2.2), which determines the available solution space for an innovation project. Less innovative organisations might not be supportive of radical changes, and more innovative organisations might not be interested in incremental changes. In essence, this determines the scope of successful directions, and consequently influences the level of support independently from the actual level of quality of the content.

This difference emerged from how participants from more innovative companies - based on reputation, and industry stereotypes - described stakeholder responses, compared to participants from less innovative companies. For example, looking at participants 1 and 2, who both worked on conceptual projects, which are a departure from what the company normally does, with an emphasis on company image rather than business value, both described completely different responses to their work. Participant 1 described how the team was hindered by the company's way of working, and that internal stakeholders struggled to see the benefit, despite elaborate explanations. Participant 2 on the other hand, was given resources and freedom to develop a concept, and received positive responses, despite the concrete added value of the concept still being unclear.

42

## 3.3 Conclusion

Looking back at the research questions, the following conclusions can be drawn:

#### 1. What makes a Strategic design process in the fuzzy front end successful?

The process is successful, if the Strategic Designers are able to reach the - usually implicit required levels of content quality, and support for a proposed 'idea' for further development.

#### 2. How do different elements of a Strategic Design process, such as activities, and deliverables, influence the quality of the outcome?

The guality of the outcome is not directly influenced by particular activities, or deliverables, but instead by the quality of the working principles embedded in their process of diverging and converging steps. This means that the quality of the outcome is primarily influenced by the comprehensiveness of gathered information, and the coherence of the created logic, of the problem-solution fit, and proposed 'idea' for further development.

#### 3. Which attributes of a Strategic Design process can be measured?

Firstly, the quality of the working principles behind the quality of content development, through comprehensiveness and coherence. Secondly, stakeholders' intuitive estimations of quality, the strategic fit, and continuity, through managerial, and internal support.

#### Main: How can process-based metrics be used to measure the performance of Strategic Designers, during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process?

In short, by surfacing and structuring intuitive judgements in order to make essential aspects of success (content quality and support), as well as the underlying attributes (comprehensiveness and coherence, strategic fit and continuity) measurable. Keeping in mind their limitations (understandability and innovation culture) in order to correctly interpret appropriate conclusions from these measurements.

Figure 3.8 shows a framework for Strategic Design performance measurement in the fuzzy front end, combining the previously discussed aspects of content development, in the overview of the process phases, through which support runs as a parallel process.



# 4. Strategic Design KPI concept:

What it all comes down to.

After the theoretical foundation for a Strategic Design KPI was found, as described throughout the previous chapter, the next step was to design the KPI itself.

The following chapter describes the Strategic Design KPI concept in its final design state, as developed in this project. It is derived from the qualitative study, as well as additional theories, but it is a completely new concept. All scores are new creations, and although some scores' structures were derived from existing methods, non were previously used in the context of measuring Strategic Design performance.

The design process of gathering additional information, and developing the KPI can be found in Appendix B.

## 4.1 KPI overview

Measuring Strategic Design performance, using process-based metrics, needs to happen over multiple elements, to gain sufficient understanding of the performance.

These elements can be divided into main scores, sub-scores, and a control score.

### Main scores

In short, the main scores indicating Strategic Design performance are:

- the Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score; summarising overall performance
- the Content Quality Score; indicating the quality of content development
- the Total Support Level; indicating the quality of stakeholder management

### **Sub-Scores**

The Content Quality Score consists of the following sub-scores:

- the Information Comprehensiveness Score; indicating the quality of diverging activities
- the Logical Coherence Ratio; indicating the quality of converging activities

The Total Support Level consists of the following sub-scores:

- the Managerial Support Level; indicating the level of support from managerial stakeholders, and their perception of the strategic fit of the result.
- the Internal Support Level; indicating the level of support from internal stakeholders, and their perception of the continuity of the result.

### **Control score**

The control score of the KPI and its sub-scores are:

- the Level of Discrepancy; a benchmark to indicate potential problems for interpreting the KPI.
  - Understandability; indicating the extent to which the Strategic Designer is able to sufficiently convey the content.
  - Innovation culture; indicating the organisation's ability to change/innovate, which determines the potential scope of the result.

Figure 4.1 shows an overview of these elements, and their links. Each element in explained in detail in chapter 4.4.

**4**6



Figure 4.1: Overview of elements of Strategic Design Performance.

## 4.2 Workflow

Figure 4.2 shows an overview of how measuring Strategic Design performance ties into a Strategic Design process. The workflow can be integrated into an individual phase/diamond, assuming that the process as a whole follows a double diamond structure, as was found to be common in practice in the qualitative study (see chapter 3.3).

This means that the Strategic Design KPI can be used to evaluate every phase individually, and/ or to evaluate the process as a whole, by going through the workflow twice.



**48** 

Figure 4.2: Strategic Design performance measurement workflow.

# 4.3 Interpreting the KPI

Due to the KPI consisting of multiple elements, interpreting the outcomes, and drawing suitable conclusions based on them, requires some knowledge. The following sections are a brief overview of how different outcomes can be interpreted, starting with an explanation of the main scores, followed by an explanation of the two pairs of sub-scores.

### Main scores

Figure 4.3 shows a simplified overview of the different possible outcomes of the Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score, based on the Content Quality Score, and the Total Support Level, if both are either high or low. What these four guadrants mean with regards to Strategic Design performance is explained below.

#### 1: High overall scores:

All aspects of the KPI work in such a way that a higher number represents better performance. This means that high scores along both axes, and as a result a high Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score indicates that the Strategic Designers in guestion perform well.

#### 2: Low overall scores:

Lower overall scores are an indication that performance is not optimal, and that changes level should be made to improve. The best approach Figure 4.3: Overview of possible Strategic Design to such changes can be found by looking at KPI outcomes and their meanings. the underlying metrics, and assessing the differences.

#### 3: High Content Quality Score & low Total Support Level:

A high Content Quality Score, but a low Total Support Level indicates that although the Strategic Designer's content development has been good, they have not sufficiently considered the context in which they are working and/or failed to sufficiently involve the relevant stakeholders in their process.

This results in an outcome that is not suitable for the organisation, or is an indication that the necessary stakeholders do not feel connected to the outcome, resulting in a lack of commitment to make it a success later on.

#### 4: Low Content Quality Score & high Total Support Level:

A low Content Quality Score, but a high Total Support Level indicates that the Strategic Designer has been successful in terms of involving stakeholders, and convincing them of the results, but not in terms of the quality of content development.

If this is the case, it can be expected that there will be more problems in further development of the innovation, due to overlooked factors, or a lack of detail, which could have been addressed earlier.





Total support

### Sub-scores

The sub-scores of the Content Quality Score, and the Total Support Level provide insight into different aspects of Strategic Design performance. The following sections provide a brief explanation of how differences between these sub-scores can be interpreted.

### Information Comprehensiveness Score vs. Logical Coherence Ratio

A high Information Comprehensiveness Score, and a low Logical Coherence Ratio, indicate that the Strategic Designer is gathering information effectively, but not applying it efficiently. If this is the case, the Strategic Designers are most likely struggling to make sense of the information that they are gathering, or are overly focussed on diverging. This will result in an endless process, or poorly formulated results, despite extensive knowledge of the content.

A low Information Comprehensiveness Score, and a high Logical Coherence Ratio, indicate that although the Strategic Designers can create a comprehensive story, they are not sufficiently diverging. If this is the case, it is likely that relevant aspects of the content will be overlooked, or results will turn out shallow, which will cause problems in further development and implementation of the innovation.

### Managerial Support Level vs. Internal Support Level

Within the Total Support Level, the different elements (managerial support and internal support) represent the different stakeholder groups, with their own perspective, and requirements. In that sense, differences between each level indicate which stakeholder group was better addressed by the Strategic Designer relative to what they require. Lower levels are therefore an indication that the Strategic Designer needs to put in more effort into the stakeholder management of that particular group.

50

# 4.4 KPI elements in detail

## **Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score**

The Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score (see figure 4.4) is the overall, single number which represents Strategic Design performance in the fuzzy front end. It is meant to give quick insight into Strategic Design performance, however it does not provide additional information into the reasons for success, failure or changes in performance. It is most suitable for higher levels of management to gain insight into whether or not Strategic Design performance needs to be addressed, or to track the effect of changes on a higher level.

The Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score is built up of two elements, which indicate the potential Strategic Design success in the fuzzy front end:

1) the Content Quality Score, which represents how well content is developed

2) the Total Support Level, which represents how well the content is perceived by stakeholder within the organisation

The Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score, being the summarising number of the KPI, is calculated by averaging the Content Quality Score, and Total Support Level. This can be done with a relative weight, if an organisation chooses to prioritise one above the other.

The resulting number is on a range of 1-7, where a higher number indicates better performance.

The Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score can be calculated as such:

Fuzzy front end Commitment =  $\begin{pmatrix} Content \\ Quality \times \\ Score \end{pmatrix} \times \begin{pmatrix} Total \\ Support \times \\ Veight \end{pmatrix}$ 



Figure 4.4: Fuzzy Front End Commitment Score.

### **Content Quality Score**

The Content Quality Score (see figure 4.5) provides an indication of the quality of the content development during the fuzzy front end, independently of the perception of stakeholders. It serves to explain the effectiveness and efficiency of Strategic Design efforts as objectively as possible, given the uncertainty that characterises the fuzzy front end and Strategic Designer's work.

Since the uncertain nature of Strategic Design makes it impossible to objectively judge the quality of Strategic Design content itself, the Content Quality Score provides an indication of the quality of the development process instead.

The Content Quality Score also consists of two elements both based on the fact that Strategic Design processes follow a structure of diverging and converging activities:

- 1. the Information Comprehensiveness Score, which indicates the quality of diverging activities
- 2. the Logical Coherence Ratio, which indicates the quality of converging activities

The Content Quality Score is derived from the Information Comprehensiveness Score, and the Logical Coherence Ratio, by multiplying them. Subsequently, it should be converted into a scale that is comparable with the Total Support Level, by dividing by a constant. The Content Quality Score should be converted, because it is unlimited, and the Total Support Level is measured on a scale, as will be further explained in the following sections.

52

The Content Quality Score can be calculated as such:

Content		Information Comprehensiveness Score	х	Logical Coherence Ratio
Quality =		Conversion		
Score		constant		



Figure 4.5: Content Quality Score.

### Information Comprehensiveness Score

The Information Comprehensiveness Score (see figure 4.6) is an indication of diverging quality by quantifying the comprehensiveness of the information gathered throughout the Strategic Design process, both research insights, or creative input.

The comprehensiveness of information is measured, because it determines the potential quality of Strategic Design content, and potential impact of what is developed during the fuzzy front end.

Comprehensiveness is a combination of:

- Broadness of information, which is necessary to gain a holistic understanding of the content, as well as to avoid blind spots to relevant aspects
- Depth of information, which is necessary in order to gain sufficient understanding to apply information in a meaningful way.

the Furthermore. Information Comprehensiveness Score accounts for how well-grounded information is, in order to increase the reliability of the information.

The Information Comprehensiveness Score is derived from a point system, where points are awarded for information that is gathered throughout diverging activities. It is created as an unlimited score to encourage exploration, while also stimulating structure and overview by requiring documentation of information in order to receive points.

Points are awarded for every research insight, and for a standard unit of creative input, such as idea clusters. This means that more points are awarded for broader information. Furthermore, extra points can be awarded for deeper information, as well as for more grounded information. Additional points for deeper and Figure 4.7: Scoring information more grounded information are limited to avoid comprehensiveness. rewarding overworking the same information.

The exact way of scoring can vary per organisation, however, figure 4.7 shows an example of how this scoring system can be structured.



Figure 4.6: Information Comprehensiveness Score.

Phase	Research	Ideation
Range	5-15 points per insight	5-15 points per cluster
Broadness	5 points per insight	1 point per final idea cluster
Depth	1 extra point per additional layer of information, with a maximum of 5	1 extra point per 10 unique ideas within each cluster, with a maximum of 4
Groundedness	1 additional point per source, with a maximum of 5.	total amount of points (per session) multiplied by amount of involved stakeholder groups, with a maximum of 3

### Logical Coherence Ratio

The Logical Coherence Ratio (see figure 4.8) is an indication of converging quality by quantifying the coherence of Strategic Design results, in relation to the information gathered through diverging activities.

The coherence is measured, because it determines how well information is integrated into a meaningful result, which determines the extent to which the potential quality, and impact that is created through diverging, can be converted into practical value.

Determining the coherence of Strategic Design results can be done by creating a visual overview of the explanation/story of a result. In this overview, every insight, and unit of creative input is portrayed as individual elements (hereby referred to as tokens), and argumentation about how these tokens relate (hereby referred to as ties) is portrayed by linking them together. Figure 4.9 shows an example of how such an overview can be Figure 4.8: Logical Coherence Ratio. structured.



The Logical Coherence Ratio is calculated by dividing the number of ties in a result by the total amount of available tokens, including tokens that are not part of the final result. By including every available token in the calculation, it is rewarding to account for all available information, and 'cherry picking' information does not contribute to a better score. Creating a well coherent 'story' is the only way to retain a good score for the quality of the content as a whole.

The ease of determining this ratio depends on the overview of the story that the Strategic Designers create. This encourages them to make their argumentation explicit, whether it is

54

proven or assumed, and allows them to more easily discuss specific elements of the story with stakeholders. The final score should be under reservation until the story is accepted. to avoid rewarding points for assumptions, argumentation and conclusions that are not accepted by other stakeholders.

The formula for the Logical Coherence Ratio is as follows:





Figure 4.9: Evaluating logical coherence.

## **Total Support Level**

The Total Support Level (see figure 4.10) is an indication of stakeholder's support for fuzzy front end results - describing a sense of approval, and willingness to accept responsibility for proposed outcomes - based on the intuitive judgement of the Strategic Designer's work by said stakeholders.

The Total Support Level serves to provide clear, structured insight into stakeholder's intuition, as well as provide more insight into underlying reasons for accepting or rejecting results other than the quality of the content.

The Total Support Level consists of the two primary stakeholder perspectives that influence fuzzy front end success;

- 1. the Managerial Support Level, which summarises the perception of managing/ decision making stakeholders.
- 2. the Internal Support Level, which summarises the perception of other stakeholders within the organisation that will be the owner of the results, responsible for further development and/ or affected by proposed changes.

Both support levels can be evaluated by applying existing customer research tools for quantifying people's perspectives, with outcomes that are quickly and easily understood. A suitable approach along these lines is to apply questionnaires, and measure support with Likert scales. This means that the support levels, and consequently the KPI as a whole, are measured on a scale of 1-7.

For Strategic Designers, this way of evaluating support, should be seen as a guick activity that provides a guantitative summary of their gualitative conversations, and not as a replacement of their normal way of working.

The Total Support Level can be measured by calculating the average of the Managerial Support Level, and the Internal Support Level, with a relative weight if an organisation values one over the other.

The formula for the Total Support Level is as follows:





Figure 4.10: Total Support Level.

### Managerial Support Level

The Managerial Support Level (see figure 4.11) indicates the level of support of managing/ decision making stakeholders for fuzzy front end results, based on the intuitive, qualitative judgement of this stakeholder group.

This is important to measure, because the decision of management determines whether, or not the organisation commits to further development of a result. In other words, a lack of managerial support guarantees an unsuccessful fuzzy front end.

On top of the perception of content quality of the Strategic Designer's work by managerial stakeholders, the Managerial Support Level is influenced by the strategic fit of the content. Strategic fit describes whether the proposed content fits within the context of the organisation, and its goals. A lack of strategic fit will result in a lack of commitment for the proposed outcomes, regardless of the quality of the content.



Figure 4.11: Internal Support Level.

### Internal Support Level

The Internal Support Level (see figure 4.11) indicates the level of support for fuzzy front end results from other stakeholders within the organisation, such as stakeholders who will be the owner of the results, responsible for further development and/or affected by proposed changes.

This is important to measure, because internal stakeholders greatly influence the potential success of fuzzy front end results, after they move into the following development stages. In other words, a lack of internal support increases the likeliness of failure of results, proposed in the fuzzy front end, in later stages of development.

Internal stakeholders are concerned with what can be described as continuity. Continuity describes the organisation's perceived ability to successfully develop and implement what is proposed in the fuzzy front end, from the perspective of the internal stakeholders. Internal support does not guarantee success after the fuzzy front end, however, a lack of it will almost certainly cause failure in further development

56

### Level of Discrepancy

The Level of Discrepancy (see figure 4.12), and the connected elements indicate how representative the KPI is, similarly to significance for statistical research.

It is important to evaluate how representative the KPI's outcomes are, because the KPI contains elements that can be influenced negatively, without fairly representing Strategic Design performance. Evaluating the potential underlying reasons for discrepancy between the KPI's elements, when there are significant differences, can help to avoid drawing wrong conclusions.

There are two factors that can explain a high Level of Discrepancy:

- 1. Understandability, which indicates the Strategic Designers ability to convey the content, independently of the quality.
- 2. Innovation culture, which indicates the organisation's ability to innovate/change.

Evaluating whether or not the Level of Discrepancy is acceptable can be done by detracting the converted Content Quality Score from the Total Support Level, and comparing it to a predetermined benchmark score.



Figure 4.12: Level of Discrepancy.

### Understandability

Understandability (see figure 4,13), which indicates how well the Strategic Designer can convey their work, independently of the quality.

This is important to check, because the fuzzy front end heavily relies on qualitative and intuitive judgement. In order for such judgement to be fair and/or reliable, it is crucial that all involved parties have the same understanding of what is discussed. This is crucial to avoid speaking 'past each other' by differently referring to the same thing, or similarly referring to different things.

Understandability can be calculated as a ratio, and evaluated using a benchmark indicating what is sufficient.

Measuring the understandability can be done based on the overview created for the Logical Coherence Ratio. First, the Strategic Designer should determine the critical tokens and ties of the story, and subsequently ask stakeholders to explain their understanding of the result. To what extent that explanation is in agreement with the critical tokens and ties can then be evaluated.



Figure 4.13: Understandability & Innovation culture.

### Innovation culture

Innovation culture (see figure 4.13) describes an organisation's ability to innovate, or deal with changes.

This is important to be aware of, as it determines the scope in which Strategic Designers can operate. Organisations with a 'low' innovation culture will be unable to deal with more radical innovations, while organisations with a 'high' innovation culture might be less interested in incremental innovations.

For Strategic Designers, knowing the innovation culture in which they operate, can help to understand and anticipate the levels of support that they can receive for different levels of proposed changes, and deal with it accordingly.

To measure innovation culture, existing measurement systems, such as those mentioned in chapter 2.2 can be used.

58

# **5. Validation:**

### Does the Strategic Design KPI concept work in practice?

Whether the Strategic Design KPI has real world value, or is just a nice concept, depends on its practical applicability. Real-world testing was not possible within the scope of this project, however that does not mean that it is impossible to make a first estimation of how well the KPI works.

This chapter describes the comparison of two projects, in order to validate that the proposed KPI concept is a suitable way of measuring Strategic Design performance.

## 5.1 Method

In order to evaluate whether the proposed Strategic Design KPI works ideally it should be tested in comparable real-world projects. Considering the limited scope of a graduation project, however, this is not realistically possible. Furthermore, the reliance on underlying information - not only what can be derived from results, and stakeholder views, make it difficult to fully evaluate the KPI through a project retrospectively. Let alone using multiple projects for comparison, which is necessary to understand the outcomes of the Content Quality Score relatively.

Fortunately, one of the first courses of the Strategic Product Design Master (Design Strategy Project) consists of two consecutive projects, which can be seen as fuzzy front end projects, for real world clients with the same project teams, over roughly the same time period. The underlying information of these projects can be partly retrieved and reconstructed, and an estimation of stakeholder views can be made, for a pair of such projects from personal experience as a SPD student. This means that these two projects can serve to give a rough estimation of how the KPI would work in practice, especially considering that the first - although painful to admit - was not great, and the second was far better. This means that not only are these two projects comparable, and can the necessary information be partly retrieved or reconstructed, the performance of the team was arguably very different for both, which should result in a more insightful comparison. Admittedly, there are shortcomings, which are discussed below, and make this comparison questionable as a scientific study, so they will only serve as a quick exploration to reflect on the potential of the KPI, and not for hard conclusions.

### Cases

As stated above, the two projects in guestion were part of the Design Strategy Project course of the Strategic Product Design master (in the academic year 2018-2019).

The first project (which will be called project 1 from now on) was done for Barco. The brief was mostly open; to design a strategy for Barco, with an emphasis on identifying ways to better engage with end-users of their products, and/or internal transformation of product development. The (educational) grades awarded for the project are not a reliable indication of performance, as the project primarily serves educational goals, and not business goals, however it does provide insight into how well the team performed compared to other teams in the same context. The grades were not given by the same people, but benchmarked, so they are comparable. Project 1 was rewarded a 6,5 (out of 10). This was also the lowest grade that any group received for the first project during the course that year, so it is safe to say that the team's performance was not good.

The second project (project 2) was done for Ford. Their brief was to create a strategy to become more appealing to Gen Z, with an emphasis on the novelty of the outcomes. In contrast to project 1, this project was rewarded with a 9, implying far better performance of the team during this project.

### Considerations

There are shortcomings for a proper, reliable comparison between the projects, in order to estimate the practical effectiveness of the KPI.

Firstly, although it is possible to retrieve the final results, which were presentations, including the notes used to create it, not all information that was gathered was documented in such a way that it was retrievable within a reasonable amount of time, if even at all. As a result, it is still impossible to fully evaluate the Content Quality Score as intended. Instead only the information that made it into the final result and the coherence of the final result can be evaluated. This means that the Logical Coherence Ratio will be higher than they would have been in reality. This is especially true for the ideation steps, as they were hardly documented. For that reason, the comparison will be limited to the research and problem-solution fit only, leaving out the resulting concepts.

Secondly, support levels were not measured, so any claims about that are mostly speculative. Looking back at the projects, however, there were some clear differences that, based on the process, as well as the responses from involved stakeholders, that hint towards differences between support for both projects.

Lastly, although the projects were done for corporate clients, the teams were not internal and did not have access to stakeholders and resources like an internal team would have had. For that reason, it cannot be expected that the levels of the KPI - especially on the support side - can be representative of real-world outcomes, but they can provide insight in comparison to each other.

Overall, the comparison between the two projects is not fully representative due to the aforementioned shortcomings, however, they can serve to provide an estimation of how sensible the KPI is based on practical experience, especially for the Content Quality Score, since that can be partially reconstructed.

### **Analysis**

The main goal of comparing two Design Strategy Projects is to evaluate to what extent the KPI could explain Strategic Design performance. Since the content, in the form of the final presentations, is the most reliable and accessible, the evaluation was primarily based on that. Due to insufficient documentation of ideation for a full analysis, the analysis was limited to the argumentation up to the point of introducing the concept. Both presentations had roughly the same structure, so this gave comparable results.

The presentations were analysed along the following steps:

- Using the notes that were used to create the presentations, the presentations were broken up into the separate chunks of information that they consisted of.
- The chucks were sorted based on the type of content they represented; insights, (sub-) conclusions, and argumentation.
- An estimation was made of the score that should be rewarded for every insight, based on sources and explanations listed in the presentations and notes. The sum of these scores indicates the Information Comprehensiveness Score for this part of each project.
- The separated elements of the presentation were then rearranged to create a visual overview of how different insights and conclusions are linked by argumentation in order to create a 'story'. This provides insight into the number of ties in each presentation, and consequently in the Logical Coherence Ratio.
- The focus of each insight and sub-conclusion (internal, external, or a combination) was evaluated. This was done to help estimate how support levels could have been influenced by the content.
- Lastly, the project specific information was removed, leaving only the visual structure of each presentation's story, and a label describing the type of content of each element.

Following the analysis of the content, estimates of support levels were made based on the involvement of stakeholders throughout the project, and their responses after presentations, and related to specific content elements where possible.

64

# **5.2 Findings**

Figure 5.1 shows the visual overview of the content for project 1. What stands out, is that the insights are not interlinked at all, implying that the story is not very coherent. The Information Comprehensiveness Score is also low when compared to project 2, indicating that the research insights remained relatively incomprehensible. Furthermore, the proposed direction is fully dependent on two sub-conclusions, meaning that any rejection of insights, or arguments from stakeholders will leave little of the story intact. Unfortunately, that also turned out to be the case, as the company representative did not agree with the argument and resulting conclusion marked in red, and did not understand how the insight marked in red related to their company.

This also ties in to the complete lack of support that this project would probably receive. Only one company representative was involved in the project, meaning that nothing could be done in order to gain internal support, or ensure continuity. Furthermore, the single company representative was not involved during the process at all, resulting in the team developing a direction which the company representative did not agree with in the end. This would probably mean a bad strategic fit, and low managerial support if performance was measured using the Strategic Design KPI.



Figure 5.1: Estimation of the Content Quality Score of project 1.

Overall, the overview in figure 5.1, and the Content Quality Score, as well as the lack of stakeholder involvement and support would suggest that performance for that project was suboptimal. Considering the low grade awarded for this project during the course, this would be an accurate evaluation.

Information comprehensiveness score = 37

Logical coherence ratio = **0,9** 

Content quality score = 33,3

Looking at figure 5.2, which shows the visual overview of the content for project 2, the difference to project 1 is quite apparent. Firstly, the Information Comprehensiveness Score is much higher, indicating that more relevant information was applied. On top of that, the story is also far more coherent, and relies a lot less on the acceptance of a single insight or conclusion. From a content quality perspective, project 2 seems to be clearly better, as the information is more comprehensible, and the story more coherent.

On the support level side of the KPI, project 2 would also most likely have been better. More stakeholders were involved throughout different moments in the project, allowing better finetuning of expectations and probably leading to more support (managerial) as a result.

The link marked by the yellow arrow, labelled as 'validated assumption' also played a crucial role in the project, as it was well researched (and validated), but also received a particularly positive response from the involved stakeholders. This ended up leading to the addition of the working principles on top of the suggested direction, which then made the whole story more comprehensible and coherent in addition to gaining more support from stakeholders, for following up on their input.

What was lacking in hindsight, was the internal support. Although the result was a satisfying outcome to the brief, met by a decent level of managerial support, too few stakeholders that were concerned with continuity were involved to properly address that aspect.



#### Figure 5.2: Estimation of the Content Quality Score of project 2.

Overall, project 2 was better in terms of content development, but also in terms of stakeholder involvement, and therefore probably support as well. Comparing project 2 to project 1, and the respective grades as indication of their relative quality, this would again imply that the Strategic Design KPI could be an accurate representation of the team's performance.

• 66

## 5.3 Conclusion

Comparing the Content Quality Scores and the underlying scores of both projects, it seems credible that this part of the KPI can work to provide insight into Strategic Design performance. Obviously two numbers based on an incomplete overview are not enough to draw a firm conclusion, or indicate what a normal range for the scores would be, but they are a positive first sign.

The Total Support Level was unfortunately not quantifiable retrospectively, however multiple hints to the necessity of this aspect in the KPI can be found throughout both projects.

Overall, the elements of the KPI seem to make sense based on the comparison of these two projects, and the calculations of Content Quality Score show potential as well.

# 6. Discussion:

#### What does the project accomplish?

Looking back at the initially described problem, and resulting brief, the question arises to what extent this problem was solved and the brief met. As a reminder, the problem and brief were described as follows:

"To summarise; design has the potential to be a suitable field for dealing with global issues, and its value has been proven in practice, especially when it is also applied at a strategic level. However, the lack of suitable metrics leaves Strategic Designers unable to justify and explain their efforts, and to receive the responsibility and influence required to apply the full extent of their capabilities.

For these reasons, the goal of this graduation project is: to design a Key Performance Indicator or metric for Strategic Designers, with the goal to be able to justify and explain their efforts."

This means that there are two main purposes the final result should serve; justification; to show that the efforts/resources that Strategic Designers apply are right or reasonable, and explanation; to provide clarity on Strategic Design efforts. The means to do so should be quantitative, hence the 'KPI or metric'.

The extent to which the brief was met, as well as some considerations for putting the result in perspective, are discussed in this chapter.
# 6.1 Limitations

In order to properly evaluate to what extent the goals of the project are met, it is fair to point out any limitations that influenced the project. The limitations to the process, and the outcome of the project are discussed in the following sections.

# **Process**

Looking back at the process, two main limitations stand out. The first, being more practical, is that in an attempt to apply the research findings, and to not develop everything in isolation, a lot of the findings and results were discussed with multiple people, during various stages of the project. Although this helped to create a more coherent, and better formulated story, this process was not structured, or documented. As a result, these efforts and influences cannot be explicitly found throughout the reports, which makes it impossible to evaluate them.

The same goes for some input from the research participants. As explained in chapter 3.1, the results are mostly based on what was common between participants to make the results more reliable despite the small sample size. However, there have been aspects of the participant's input that influenced the results, without explicitly being part of the research findings. This effect is enforced by the parallels that could be drawn between the subject matter of the project, and the project itself; it being a fuzzy front end process. A stronger emphasis on researcher reflexivity would have helped to address these influences.

The second limitation of the process is completely different in nature, and has more to do with the content of the research. The scope of the research and project was limited to Strategic Designers working within corporates, however, differences between Strategic Designers within corporates were not addressed. The last research participant rightfully pointed out that some internal design teams practically behave like internal consultants, and are probably indistinguishable from externals from this project's perspective. This is a valid point, as there were notable differences between participants' teams and their place in their organisations.

The data was analysed, but not gathered with these differences in mind. This means that it is possible that differences between roles of internal Strategic Designers have an influence on Strategic Design performance that was not uncovered through this research. This is a point to address in any potential future research, or development of the KPI.

# Outcome

The biggest limitations of the outcomes, as will be the case for most graduation projects, is that there will most likely be blind spots, and it is not 'finished'.

Due to the time and resource limit of the project, it is impossible to address everything, and sometimes progress has to be prioritised. In this project specifically, the sample size of the qualitative study was small.

Furthermore, the end result still has some aspects that are not completely implementation ready. The calculations of each of the KPI aspects do not include any data to determine relative weights, or conversions, or are acceptable ranges for each score. This is partly due to the fact that they can logically vary between organisations, or even change over time, but it is safe to say that more development would be necessary to bring the concept to a point where it can be used.

70 •

# **6.2 Contribution**

How the project relates to existing knowledge, and what the results contribute to academics and practice, is discussed in the following sections.

# **Relation to existing knowledge**

Throughout chapter 2, the problem at the heart of this goal, and the essence of this problem were established. The impression that Strategic Designers have the ability to contribute positively to society, but face the lack of understanding for their work from a quantitative perspective as a major challenge, was found to be in line with literature.

## Mismatch between worldviews

At the heart of this challenge lies the fundamental mismatch between the qualitative worldview of design, and the often data driven, quantitative worldview of most corporate organisations. It was argued that nothing was wrong with either worldview, but that a solution to this problem should embrace both worldviews, and provide quantitative insight into Strategic Design, without altering the gualitative nature of it.

This pragmatic approach to explaining/justifying Strategic Design efforts is not new, but it is uncommon, and relatively unexplored. As a result, further research yielded insights that were unconventional, but still in line with existing knowledge, as is explained in the following sections.

In the end, the Strategic Design KPI seems successful in its pragmatic intention, as it is compatible with a Strategic Design approach, but results in simple, guantitative indications of performanOce.

# A process-based metric

Process-based metrics - being somewhere between productivity-related, and content-related - were found to be the most suitable approach to create a metric/KPI suitable for Strategic Design in chapter 2 as well.

In hindsight, process-based metrics can be seen as a pragmatic approach to performance measurement in general, and as novel in itself. It is safe to say that the Strategic Design KPI is indeed somewhere in that rather broad area, and for that reason alone, the KPI can be considered to be a novel approach to explaining and justifying Strategic Design efforts.

## Content development & stakeholder management

More specifically, the Content Quality Score is a good example of how process-based metrics add a novel perspective, as it comes quite close to indicating productivity, but adds a layer of information that cannot be achieved through measuring productivity only in its design-specific focus.

The Total Support Level is more content related, than process-based, but that does not take away the fact that focussing on internal stakeholder perspectives is an unconventional approach to evaluating performance in the context of an innovation process. This is actually surprising, since the interlinked nature of content development, and stakeholder management is not new from a design perspective.



### **Comprehensiveness & coherence**

Although the Information Comprehensiveness Score is new, it is in line with existing design literature. From a creativity perspective. It is believed that in creating ideas, quantity generates quality, and that broader ideas, as well as more detailed ideas in earlier ideation phases lead to better final ideas (Tassoul, 2012).

This holds up in a more Strategic Design specific topic, such as design road mapping. There, the extent to which is diverged can be related to how 'far' results can be achieved (Simonse, 2017). In the context of road mapping, 'far' refers to how far in future something is, but it can also describe the extent to which results are different from competition, or alternatives (see figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1: The effect of comprehensiveness.

The same goes for the Logical Coherence Ratio; the approach to measuring converging quality is new in this application, but the importance of coherence makes sense from a design perspective.

### Measuring support levels

Although the types of measurement that are applied for the support levels are far from new, the essence of embracing internal stakeholders' intuition as a valid form of justification and quantifying that, is a new approach to measuring performance. Admittedly it is not very different from user research methods, but applying them internally in early development of new ideas is uncommon at the very least.

Overall, the research conducted in this project provides multiple novel perspectives to existing knowledge of Strategic Design through its pragmatic lens. As a result, the Strategic Design KPI is a truly new method of evaluating Strategic Design performance, while remaining close to existing literature and existing measurement approaches.

72

# **Conclusion and implications**

So to what extent does the KPI serve the purposes of justifying and explaining Strategic Design? The safe, but true answer is: more or less.

The KPI provides a novel perspective to explaining Strategic Design, using a quantitative approach. It is still a concept, however; a mostly theoretical, first step towards a solution for the initially stated problem. It is arguably a small first step, but it is specific, and novel enough to open new possibilities for both academic, and practical application.

In the current state, the KPI admittedly provides little basis for justification of Strategic Design efforts, however. Justification requires evidence that the KPI works, and that high Strategic Design performance is related to the positive results it promises.

Given the quantitative perspective that the KPI is intended for, it was unlikely that a purely qualitative study would provide convincing evidence in that sense. In other words, justification was a vision, rather than a realistic goal for this project.

Overall, the final result can be seen as a first step of something bigger. Both for practical and academic application, it would need more attention, but it provides a novel perspective, which can open the door to much more.

# **6.3 Recommendations**

Based on all information until this point, it is clear that more can and should be done to solve the initially described problem. Who should be responsible for this is a question that will stay unanswered unfortunately, but the recommended steps based on this project are described below.

# **Further development**

As stated multiple times throughout this reflection, the result is not fully ready for implementation, and therefore further development is the primary recommendation.

The Content Quality Score needs to be tried out in practice, and fine-tuned to be applicable if necessary. Furthermore, it needs to be used throughout multiple projects, to gain an understanding of the meaning of the score, and to be able to interpret its outcomes. Most likely this fine tuning will be specific for any organisation wanting to apply the KPI.

The support levels could firstly use more research to further establish exactly how the different stakeholder's support influence success, and how to apply their qualitative judgement in the KPI, as it is currently a relatively 'open' part of the KPI.

# **Further research**

After finalising the KPI, quantitative proof will be necessary for it to be applicable. The whole idea of making a KPI depends on the ability to prove a positive relation between the KPI, and desirable outcomes. This remains a significant challenge, however, due to the Strategic Design characteristics, and associated challenges for performance measurement, as described in chapter 2.2. The KPI does provide more basis for further testing, however. In other words, the newly proposed measurement options that the KPI provides, create a chance to do thorough quantitative research into the impact of Strategic Design.

Further research into the Strategic Design performance measurement based on the Strategic Design KPI, can be divided into three levels, each proving a different layer of impact, building on the previous, which are explained below, and can be seen in figure 6.2.

#### Internal impact - accuracy

The first step of quantitative testing would be to test if the KPI does in fact provide enough insight to reach better results; a higher level of commitment for fuzzy front end outcomes. This relation would prove that the KPI is indeed a good representation of a Strategic Design performance. and allows for better management of efforts. This comes down to testing if the theory that was gualitatively created in this project, holds up in the real world. In other words, is the Strategic Design KPI an accurate, and effective representation of reality?

#### Contextual impact - reliability

The next step of quantitative testing would be to test if better Strategic Design performance leads to better (innovation) results in later stages of development and potentially implementation. This relation is what would allow Strategic Designers to justify how their work influences the organisation, and why their approach/methods are suitable beyond the more traditionally known applications for design. In essence, it would test the reliability of Strategic Design performance as an antecedent of innovation guality, and the KPI's reliability of indicating that.

#### **Overall impact - value**

The last step of quantitative testing would be to test if the influence of Strategic Design on innovation outcomes actually has a noticeable long-term effect. This can be seen as a test of the notion that the application of a KPI for Strategic Design will allow an organisation to benefit from the added value of design, which was the starting point of this project. Unlike the research described in chapter 2.2, however, this would provide insight into how this value can be achieved, and not only that it is there.



Figure 6.2: Testing different aspects and levels of impact of the Strategic Design KPI.

# **Reflection:**

A critical look into the project.

Since this project marks the end of my time as a student, it is only fitting to finish it with a typical end to a student project; a critical reflection on the project, where I make a point of what could have been different, if I were to do it all again.

On one side, this is where I demonstrate that I have learned something, and on the other hand, it can hopefully help a potential reader of this project to better understand how it came to be, and how it can be interpreted.

# COVID-19

COVID-19 has had a tremendous impact on most aspects of daily life, and it should go without saying that graduates have not been unaffected during this period. As a result there have been limitations on what was possible during this project, for practical reasons, as well as more personal reasons.

Firstly, since the project was set to start roughly when the initial lockdown started, causing a lot of uncertainty for the economy, the company that was initially involved pulled out of the project. This not only meant reiterating the focus of the project, but also caused a lack of input from practice, and little external urge for tempo throughout the project. Admittedly, the neutral perspective turned out to be a positive influence on the project - especially the research, but it did not positively affect the pace of the project, or access to input and resources.

Secondly, on a more personal note, the working conditions caused by COVID-19 were far from ideal. Having the space and resources to work from home has been a luxury, however working mostly in isolation has not had a positive effect on motivation and productivity. This was also not helped by the timing of the project; bridging the summer - a period in which many people took time off - which resulted in a setting that seemed even more isolated than it already was. It is fair to say that this could have been addressed much more effectively, but it has had its effects on the project and should therefore be acknowledged.

# Intention

It was clear from the start that the subject was ambitious, potentially impossible and that the quality would depend heavily on depth. For that reason, the focus of the project initially leaned towards a more scientifically oriented project, with the intention to explore whether a Strategic Design KPI would be possible.

Towards the end, however, the desire to come to a concrete result became stronger than the desire to remain purely objective. This does not mean that the result is subjective, or not grounded in decent research, but it is fair to look at the project as a design project, and not as a research project.

This is reflected in the process, which primarily served to reach the goal of designing a KPI, as well in the content itself. Findings that complicated the content were always treated as challenges to overcome, but never as reasons to argue against creating a KPI in the end.

In the end, I am excited about the result, and believe that I took a valuable step towards solving the problem of measuring Strategic Design performance.

I hope that you, the reader, feel the same way, and I would like to thank you for taking the time to read my work!

78

# References

#### The following list of references includes those used in the appendices.

Alter, A. L. (2013). The benefits of cognitive disfluency. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 22(6), 437-442.

Bianchi, M., Marzi, G., & Guerini, M. (2020). Agile, Stage-Gate and their combination: Exploring how they relate to performance in software development. Journal of Business Research, 110, 538-553.

Bos-de Vos, M. (2020). A framework for designing for divergent values. Presented at DRS 2020.

British Design Council (2005). The Design Process: The 'double diamond' design process model. Retrieved from: http://www. designcouncil. org. uk/about-design/how-designers-work/thedesign-process/. Acesso em, 11(12), 2013.

Bruns, W. (1998, July). Profit as a performance measure: powerful concept, insufficient measure. In Performance Measurement-Theory and Practice: The First International Conference on Performance Measurement (pp. 14-17).

Buchanan, R. (2001). Design research and the new learning. Design issues, 17(4), 3-23.

Business Dictionary. (N.A.). Performance. Retrieved from: http://www.businessdictionary.com/ definition/performance.html

Calabretta, G., Gemser, G., & Karpen, I. (2016). Strategic Design: Eight essential practices every strategic designer must master. Bis publishers.

Carton, A. M., & Lucas, B. J. (2018). How can leaders overcome the blurry vision bias? Identifying an antidote to the paradox of vision communication. Academy of Management Journal, 61(6), 2106-2129.

Chan, F. K., & Thong, J. Y. (2009). Acceptance of agile methodologies: A critical review and conceptual framework. Decision support systems, 46(4), 803-814.

Cooper, R. (2019). Design research-Its 50-year transformation. Design Studies, 65, 6-17.

Cross, N. (2006). Design as a discipline. Designerly Ways of Knowing, 95-103.

Design Management Institute. (2015). Design Value Index Results and Commentary. Retrieved https://www.dmi.org/page/2015DVIandOTW/2015-dmiDesign-Value-Index-Resultsfrom: and-Commentary.htm

Denscombe, M. (2008). Communities of practice: A research paradigm for the mixed methods approach. Journal of mixed methods research, 2(3), 270-283.

Dobni, C. B. (2008). Measuring innovation culture in organizations. European journal of innovation management.

Doyle, P. (1994). Setting business objectives and measuring performance. European Management Journal, 12(2), 123-132.

Dixon, J. R., Nanni, A.J. and Vollmann, T.E. (1990), The New Performance Challenge - Measuring Operations for World Class Competition. Dow Jones-Irwin, Homewood, IL.

Eccles, R. (1991). The performance measurement manifesto. Harvard business review, 69(1), 131-137.

• 82 •

Eddy, D. M. (1998). Performance Measurement: Problems And Solutions: Measuring performance of health plans remains elusive, but not from lack of effort or brains. One expert outlines a strategy to improve our chance of success. Health affairs, 17(4), 7-25.

Frog Design (2017). The Business Value of Design. Frog

Gates, B. (1999). Business@ the speed of thought. Business Strategy Review, 10(2), 11-18.

Glaser, B. G., Strauss, A. L., & Strutzel, E. (1968). The discovery of grounded theory; strategies for gualitative research. Nursing research, 17(4), 364.

Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2017). Discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for gualitative research. Routledge.

Graeber, D. (2018). Bullshit jobs: a theory. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Hasan, R. (1984). Coherence and cohesive harmony. In J. Flood (Ed.), Understanding reading comprehension (pp. 181-263). Newark, DE: International Reading Association.

Hayes, R. H., & Abernathy, W. J. (1980). Managing our way to economic decline. Harvard Bus. Rev., 58(4).

Hernandez, I., & Preston, J. L. (2013). Disfluency disrupts the confirmation bias. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 49(1), 178-182,

Investopedia, (N.A.). A Guide to Calculating Return on Investment (ROI). Retrieved from: https:// www.investopedia.com/articles/basics/10/quide-to-calculating-roi.asp

Jamal, A., Foxall, G. R., & Evans, M. J. (2009). Consumer behaviour. John Wiley & Sons.

Kaplan, R. S. (1986), Accounting lag-the obsolescence of cost accounting systems. California Management Review, Vol. 28 No. 2

Kaplan R.S. and Norton D.P. (1992). The Balanced Scorecard - Measures That Drive Performance. Harvard Business Review, Vol.70, Jan-Feb

Kaplan, R. S., & Norton, D. P. (2004). Measuring the strategic readiness of intangible assets. Harvard business review, 82(2), 52-63.

Kaplan, R. S., Kaplan, R. E., Norton, D. P., Davenport, T. H., & Norton, D. P. (2004). Strategy maps: Converting intangible assets into tangible outcomes. Harvard Business Press.

Kruger, J., & Dunning, D. (1999). Unskilled and unaware of it: how difficulties in recognizing one's own incompetence lead to inflated self-assessments. Journal of personality and social psychology, 77(6), 1121.

Lieberman, M. D. (2000). Intuition: a social cognitive neuroscience approach. Psychological bulletin, 126(1), 109,

Lynch, R.L., & Cross, K.F. (1991). Measure up!: The essential guide to measuring business performance. Mandarin.

McGrath, R. G., & MacMillan, I. C. (1995). Discovery driven planning. Philadelphia: Wharton School, Snider Entrepreneurial Center.

McKinsey (2018). The business value of design. McKinsey Quarterly.

Meroni, A. (2008). Strategic design: where are we now? Reflection around the foundations of a recent discipline.

Micheli, P., & Manzoni, J. F. (2010). Strategic performance measurement: Benefits, limitations and paradoxes. Long range planning, 43(4), 465-476.

Mynatt, C. R., Doherty, M. E., & Tweney, R. D. (1977). Confirmation bias in a simulated research environment: An experimental study of scientific inference. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 29(1), 85-95.

Neely, A. D., Gregory, M. & Platts, K. (1995), Performance measurement system design-a literature review and research agenda. International Journal of Operations & ProductionManagement, Vol. 15 No. 4

Parmenter, D. (2015). Key performance indicators: developing, implementing, and using winning KPIs. John Wilev & Sons.

Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. SAGE Publications, inc.

Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative interviewing. Qualitative research & evaluation methods (3rd ed., pp. 339-418). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Peterson, E. T. (2006). The big book of key performance indicators. Web analytics demystified.

Porter, J. (2010). Metrics Driven Design. Retrieved from http://bokardo.com/talks/metrics-drivendesign.pdf

Richardson, P.R. and Gordon, J.R.M. (1980). Measuring total manufacturing performance, Sloan Management Review.

Rober, M. (2018). The Super Mario Effect-Tricking Your Brain into Learning More. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gvJRopau0g0

Rodriguez, R. R., Saiz, J. J. A., & Bas, A. O. (2009). Quantitative relationships between key performance indicators for supporting decision-making processes. Computers in Industry, 60(2), 104-113.

Sanchez, H., & Robert, B. (2010). Measuring portfolio strategic performance using key performance indicators. Project Management Journal, 41(5), 64-73.

Sanders, E. B. N., & Stappers, P. J. (2012). Convivial design toolbox. BIS Publishers.

Schwarz, N., Bless, H., Strack, F., Klumpp, G., Rittenauer-Schatka, H., & Simons, A. (1991). Ease of retrieval as information: Another look at the availability heuristic. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61, 195-202.

Simonse, L. (2017). Design Roadmapping. BIS Publishers.

Sinclair, D., & Zairi, M. (1995). Effective process management through performance measurement. Business Process Re-engineering & Management Journal.

Skinner, W. (1974), The decline, fall and renewal of manufacturing. Industrial Engineering, pp. 32-8.

Smith. D. (2019) What everyone gets wrong about this famous Steve Jobs guote, according to Lyft's design boss. Business Insider. Retrieved from: https://www.businessinsider.nl/steve-jobs-guotemisunderstood-katie-dill-2019-4?international=true&r=US

• 84

Sommer, A. F., Hedegaard, C., Dukovska-Popovska, I., & Steger-Jensen, K. (2015). Improved product development performance through Agile/Stage-Gate hybrids: The next-generation Stage-Gate process?. Research-Technology Management, 58(1), 34-45.

Tassoul, M. (2012). Creative facilitation. VSSD.

Verganti, R. (2009). Design driven innovation: changing the rules of competition by radically innovating what things mean. Harvard Business Press.

Vlaskovits, P. (2011). Henry ford, innovation, and that "Faster Horse" quote. Harvard Business Review, 29(08), 2011.

von Hippel, E. (1993). Wettbewerbsfaktor Zeit. Moderne Industrie.

Zage, W. M., Zage, D. M., & Wilburn, C. (1995). Avoiding metric monsters: A design metrics approach. Annals of Software Engineering, 1(1), 43-55.

# Appendices



# A: Research guide

# **Research question**

How can process based metrics be used to measure the performance of Strategic Designers. during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process?

## **Sub-questions**

- 1. What are essential elements of a Strategic Design process?
- 2. What are characteristics of a good/successful Strategic design process in the fuzzy front end?
- 3. Which attributes of a Strategic Design process can be measured?

# Method

The study consists of two parts, which all participants will go through in one session;

- 1. A context map of a Strategic Design process.
- 2. A simultaneous semi-structured interview based on the context map.

## Checklist before start (~5 min)

1. Explain purpose of interview

"This research is part of my graduation project of the Strategic Product Design Master at the TU Delft.

I am conducting a qualitative study about measuring the performance of Strategic Designers in the fuzzy front end of innovation projects in order to enable Strategic Designers to reach their potential business value.

The goal of this interview is to learn from your experiences with regards to my subject. This means that there are no right or wrong answers, and I am looking for your personal thoughts and ideas."

2. Mention why the interviewee is selected

"You have been chosen as a participant of this study because of the relevance of your experience in practice to my research subject.

As mentioned in our email conversation, I was looking for Strategic Design practitioners, working internally for a corporate, on the fuzzy front end of innovation projects."

3. Explain confidentiality

"In order for me to learn anything from this interview, it is important that we are able to discuss the contents of the project that you have chosen. However, the contents of the project are not actually relevant to my research, so I will not use them in any way, other than to understand and interpret your experiences.

All of data will be made anonymous, and your identity, your company, and the project will not be mentioned in the results"

- 4. Check permissions
  - TU Delft informed consent form
  - Recording
- 5. Start recording

# Introduction (~5 min)

"According to multiple studies, Design is valuable from a business perspective, especially if it is also applied at a strategic level. However, one of the biggest obstacles for the successful application of design, is quantitatively justifying design efforts through the use of metrics.

Especially in early stages of an innovation process, where the uncertainty is the highest and organisations are not yet committed to a direction; the fuzzy front end, there are no usable metrics for Strategic Design performance.

Process based metrics can be used to deal with uncertainty due to long-term orientation, or a lack of predetermined outcomes, however there are no metrics that are useful for a combination of both.

What I'm trying to find out through this interview is: how process-based metrics can be used to measure the performance of Strategic Designers, during the fuzzy front end of an innovation process?"

# **Process map & interview**

## 1. Assignment & outcome (~10 min)

#### Tasks

- Give a short description of the initial assignment, and put it on the start of the process map. •
- Give a short description of the final outcome(s), and put it on the end of the process map.

#### Questions

- The project was chosen because it was successful. Can you explain why you consider this project to be a success?
- How did the client designer relationship work for this project?
- Has performance measurement played a role in this project? •

### 2. Timeframe, workload, resources, roles (~5 min)

#### Tasks

- Explain the timeframe, and team composition of the project team.
- Explain the resources that were provided to you, and list them on the process map.
- Explain any differences between what was initially provided, and what was used in reality, and mark it on the process map.

#### Questions

- How were the boundaries of the project determined?
- How did you deal with responsibility and justifying using resources?
- If notable, how did the team composition and/or timeframe influence the project?

## 3. Milestones & deliverables (~10 min)

#### Tasks

• Mark all process milestones and/or deliverables on the map, and provide a brief explanation.

#### Questions

- How do you determine the value and/or guality of each deliverable?
- What worked well and what did not, in determining the guality of your work, and why?

90

To what extent was that value recognised by your client? •

## 4. Steps & activities (~10 min)

#### Tasks

- Mark the general steps that were taken to reach the final result on the process map.
- Explain what (design) activities were part of each step, and mark them on the process map.

#### Questions

- To what extent is this a typical or standardised process?
- To what extent were alternatives considered?
- How was the choice for these particular steps made?

## 5. Reflection (~15 min)

#### Tasks

 Looking back at the process, mark which (1-3) steps and activities worked the best, and which (1-3) did not.

#### Questions

- How would you do things differently, knowing what you know now?
- What do you think were good practices, and why?
- What are essential elements of a Strategic Design process?
- What are characteristics of a good/successful Strategic design process in the fuzzy front end?

# Ending checklist (~10 min)

- 1. Bring interview to an end
  - Allow participant to add any final remarks
  - Allow the participant to ask questions ٠
- 2. Check interest for further involvement
  - Interested in final results
  - Tips for interesting directions for further research or analysis
- 3. Try to generate further research opportunities
  - Ask for an opportunity for a follow up with the client
  - Ask for leads for other interviews
- 4. Check if participant wants to see/approve the interview transcript
  - Thank the participant
  - Stop recording after participant disconnects

# **B: Developing the KPI**

The qualitative study provides a basis for a Strategic Design KPI, however, additional research was needed to make the translation from the research findings to an applicable KPI.

The following sections provide an overview of the extra information that served to create the Strategic Design KPI.

# **B.1 What makes a good KPI?**

In addition to the characteristics described in chapter 2.2 (quantitative, time based, actionable), there is more to creating an insightful KPI. There are multiple challenges associated with applying KPIs, in particular with the practicality in relationship with the added value.

The essential, underlying problem of such challenges can often be explained through the problem of local maxima. What the problem of local maxima describes, is that optimisation does not always lead to the optimal result, but instead to the optimal possibility of what is currently available; a local maximum. In reality, however, better results can often be achieved through more significant changes. As seen in relation to the local maximum, these changes can be seen as negative progress at first, however it leads to better results later on, as visually represented in figure b.1.

The following sections go into three types Figure b.1: The problem of local maxima. of practical challenges associated with local maxima and the application of metrics, as well as principles on how to avoid them.



## Metric monsters

Metric monsters is the term that Zage, Zage, & Wilburn (2015) gave to 'the stumbling blocks' that get in the way of development. They identify multiple specific types of metric monsters in the domain of software development. One particular type of metric monster that is interesting to keep in mind, are those that falsely identify crucial aspects of the content that need improvement. It goes without saying that false metrics are not useful, but metric monsters can be more complicated than that. The metric monster, in this case, describes the metrics that are in themselves true, generate actionable insights, and can therefore seem as good KPIs, but in reality do not lead to the optimal outcome.

If the problem of local maxima was a story about climbing a mountain, the metric monster points towards the lower mountain, distracting from the actual highest point (see figure b.2).

An example of such an element is customer perception. As Steve Jobs famously said while quoting Henry Ford:

"Some people say give the customers what they want, but that's not my approach. Our job is to figure out what they're going to want before they do. I think Henry Ford once said, 'If I'd ask customers what they wanted, they would've told me a faster horse.' People don't know what they want until you show it to them. That's why I never rely on market research. Our task is to read things that are not yet on the page."

Although Henry Ford did not actually use those problem of local maxima. words, he did share a similar view with Jobs, in saying that customers are unreliable when it comes to understanding and judging things that do not yet exist (Vlaskovits, 2011; Smith, 2019). As a result, focusing on customer perception in early development stages of new products and services, is not likely to lead to better results, thus making it a metric monster, which draws attention away from aspects of development that are more likely to lead to success.

A side note: this does not mean that it is not important to involve and listen to (potential) customers/users in early stages of an innovation process, as practically all design literature suggest that it is extremely valuable. The point is that customer perception is not a reliable metric during early innovation stages, as well as the fuzzy front end.

In order to avoid metric monsters, the only truly reliable method is guantitatively testing the relationships between different metrics and outcomes. In the context of this project however, where the testable metric does not exist yet, the best way to prevent metric monsters is to base the Strategic Design KPI on aspects that are not controversial. In other words, the elements that research participants agree on, and that are common from different points of view.



Figure b.2: Metric monsters in relation to the

## Vanity metrics

Vanity metrics is a term used to describe metrics that seem impressive, but lack practical value in reality. Vanity metrics can fall short in a number of ways, for example by a lack of actionable insights, because changes in the metric cannot be influenced by actions and decisions from the organisation, or because the metric is not a fair representation of reality.

Another category of vanity metrics is those that represent information that is not actually critical to an organisation, or their goals. Such metrics could be seen as performance, or result indicators, which is useful in some places, but do not have a practical use for innovation (Parmenter, 2015), and would therefore be vanity metrics if applied there.

An example of such a vanity metric comes from Doug Bowman's reasoning on why he left Google. In his explanation, he mentions how they would test 41 shades of blue to determine which one was best. Obviously, Google is good with data, and doing well from a business perspective, but testing 41 shades of blue is arguably excessive. The data driven focus in this case can be seen as a form of extreme optimisation (Porter, 2010), where the means no longer serve the goals effectively, if the goal is to innovate.

In the mountain climbing analogy, vanity metrics can be seen as a cloud that hides the highest mountain, effectively making the local maximum seem unnecessarily important, and Figure b.3: Vanity metrics in relation to the a bigger achievement than it is in reality (see



problem of local maxima.

In order to avoid vanity metrics, it is important to remain as close to the crucial success factors as possible. The crucial success factors are the attributes KPIs are generally based on, and describe what makes or breaks the success of the goals that were set. For Strategic Design in the fuzzy front end, this means that a suitable KPI should be representative of the Strategic Designer's ability to achieve commitment for proposed solutions.

### Box ticker

The third challenge associated with the application of metrics, comes from Graeber's (2018) book; Bullshit jobs: a theory. In his book about jobs that are useless in the sense that they do not provide practical, real world value. Among these jobs are those that fall into the category of box tickers. What box tickers do, according to Greaber, is create work to show that work is being done, which diverts time and resources away from the purpose of the initial work itself. Although this is not specifically associated with performance measurement, it raises a valid point about it. The point being that when performance measurement starts to take up more time and effort. than what can be gained from it, it is a useless endeavour.

In the mountain climbing analogy, the challenge can be seen as a chain, physically holding the mountain climber in place, not allowing him to climb the mountain (see figure b.4).

Ensuring that measurement activities are quick and effortless is arguably a suitable approach to avoid the previously discussed challenge. The question remains whether this is practically possible, however, considering that all measurement activities are extra compared to the current (most common) situation.

A different approach would be to accept the potential extra effort, but ensure that the measurement activities also contribute to better results. This may seem counter intuitive, but since Strategic Design does not deal with a clear-cut task, extra activities that contribute to the structure and focus of the process can be beneficial, as well as compatible with performance measurement activities. The challenge then lies in striking a of local maxima. balance between a standard structure which is useful for performance measurement, and conserving creative freedom.

In short, ideally measurement activities are quick and effortless, however, if this is not possible, bullshit jobs can still be avoided if the measurement activities positively contribute to Strategic Design activities, and can be embedded in the Strategic Design process.

figure b.3).



Figure b4.: Box tickers in relation to the problem

# **B.2 How to deal with human nature?**

## The reliability of intuition

In chapter 3.2, it was established that intuition is the best way to judge quality in the fuzzy front end. Traditionally, intuition was seen as an unreliable way to process information. However, more recently, as more research has gone into the inner working of intuition, it has been argued that it is in fact reliable in a suitable context. Lieberman (2000) argues that although intuitive judgement is not as absolute as purely logic driven information processing, it can be valuable when questions contain multiple layers, and perspectives, and lack clarity. The reason for this, is because intuition contains and links far more information than can realistically be processed through logic only. Where logic is arguably objective, it relies on the availability of information. Intuition on the other hand is the result of both social understanding, and implicit learning, meaning it does not only take currently available information into consideration, but also the objective and subjective learnings from past experiences. In other words, intuitive judgement contains more information and consideration than pure logic ever could. In contexts which are characterised by a lack of available information, this can be a valuable tool, if applied correctly.

A point of criticism that can be brought up for making decisions on the basis of people's intuition, is that people are inherently biased. This is a valid concern, and one that should ideally be addressed in the design of a KPI that relies on the use of intuition. There is a myriad of different biases that can be taken into consideration, however realistically not all can explicitly be addressed within the timeframe of this project.

Below, three biases are discussed that were selected, because of their relevance to Strategic Design, and because they have seemingly contradictory antidotes.

- 1) Blurry vision bias
- 2) Cognitive fluency bias
- 3) Confirmation bias

The first, and arguably most relevant cognitive bias for Strategic Design, is the blurry vision bias. What this means, is that people find it difficult to think about the future, because they have not experienced it (Carton & Lucas, 2018). As a result, people tend to discuss and explore the future using abstract, hard to grasp language. For Strategic Designers, who try to make, and discuss concrete predictions about the future, this is a challenging phenomenon to deal with. This becomes even more difficult considering the cognitive fluency bias (Schwarz et al., 1991) which in short describes people's emotional preference for what they can understand easily (see b.5). Add in the confirmation bias (Mynatt, Doherty, & Tweney, 1977), which describes how people tend to accept information that follows their beliefs rather than what is objectively true (see figure b.6), and Strategic Designers are left with a challenging cocktail of biases.





The reason the combination of these biases is so tricky, is because the approaches that help to deal with them contradict each other. Starting with the blurry vision bias, the best way to overcome the hard to understand abstract use of language about the future, is to rely on visual communication (Carton & Lucas, 2018). Visual communication helps people to understand what is proposed about the future more easily, which should also make them experience those predictions more positively. The problem however, is that by making the content easier to understand, it becomes harder to deal with confirmation bias, since confirmation bias tends to decrease, when understanding something takes more effort (Alter, 2013; Hernandez & Preston, 2013).

The result is a conundrum where any approach to deal with one bias ends up negatively affecting the ability to deal with another. The challenge then lies in finding a balance of complexity that is easy enough to prevent negative responses due to the cognitive fluency bias, and difficult enough to avoid subjectivity due to the confirmation bias, while simultaneously dealing with the challenge of understanding the future. This is relevant to the Strategic Design KPI, as it relies on intuitive judgement, so these aspects and challenges should be taken into consideration for its design.

Figure b.6: Confirmation bias.

## Effects of learning

In many ways, the Strategic Design process in the fuzzy front end can be seen as a learning process. As pointed out in chapter 3.2, there is heavy emphasis on gaining and applying new information. A KPI in such a context, can affect the way the process is experienced, as it gives insight into the state of certain aspects, both positively, and negatively. The psychology of learning, and the effects of the availability of data are quite out of scope for this project, but there are some aspects to take into consideration in order to create a KPI which is insightful, but not discouraging.

In a practical experiment about teaching people how to code through a game, where one group had points deducted for failed attempts (5 out of starting point of 200), and a second group did not, Rober (2018) found that the people who were not penalised had an overall higher success rate (68%) than the group that was penalised (52%). Both groups were allowed infinite attempts, but the group that was penalised gave up after an average of 5 tries, where the other group attempted the challenge 12 times on average. He explained this outcome by the lack of negative stimuli that the group without penalties experienced, that made them more willing to learn. He called this effect the Super Mario effect (after the Nintendo game), and it is an example of how positive stimuli influence successful learning.

These findings make sense from a creative and design perspective as well. Positivity, and even playfulness positively affect how creative people can be, and lead to overall higher creative guality (Tassoul, 2012). This applies to both diverging, and converging.

This positive attitude works under the assumption that there is a clear end goal which can be achieved. For Strategic Design, however, this is hardly the case, since the end goal and the means to get there are developed simultaneously (as pointed out in chapter 2.2 & 3.2). Seeing the Strategic Design process as a learning process without an end point, a different effect comes into the picture, namely the Dunning-Kruger effect. The Dunning-Kruger effect explains how people evaluate their own competence, relative to their actual knowledge of a subject. What this shows (see figure b.7) is that as people learn more about a subject, their evaluation of the competence decreases at first (Kruger & Dunning, 1999). In



Figure b.7: The Dunning-Kruger effect (Kruger & Dunning, 1999).

the fuzzy front end, this can mean that good results are preceded by relatively negative selfevaluation. Based on anecdotal evidence from the experiences of designers, this seems to be the case in reality, as design projects often have a low point in which things may seem desperate, but also become clear, before finally leading up to better results. The challenge then lies in not being discouraged, but keeping up momentum.

What this means for a Strategic Design KPI, is that for the designers, a KPI should ideally be encouraging and positive, for it to contribute to overall success. From a business perspective, however, a KPI must be insightful, and as objective as possible. In this case, a KPI that can only be positive is hardly useful. The challenge then lies in finding the balance between the overall usefulness of the KPI for the organisation, and the usability of KPI for the Strategic Designers.

• 100 •

# **B.3 How to measure the essential aspects of** success?

The attributes of a successful Strategic Design process in the fuzzy front end, as described in chapter 3.2, were selected on the basis that they can be measured. However, since they are unconventional from a performance measurement perspective, there are no metrics readily available for them.

The following sections are an overview of how the measurability of these attributes, as well as the previously described challenges of making a good KPI, and dealing with human nature, were addressed.

## **Content quality**

Given that Strategic Design and the fuzzy front end are characterised by uncertainty and a lack of information, performance and quality cannot be measured based on progress towards a goal, or a pre-set standard. This means that metrics cannot be based on ratios, or percentages, but instead require a progressive scale, using scores that can increase unlimitedly.

The challenge then becomes to achieve the highest possible total score, representing the total amount of effort that goes into developing the guality of the content. This way, development efforts are measured in a positive, rewarding manner, while applying well-chosen scoring criteria can help to ensure effectiveness and efficiency.

The total score that is achieved through a project can be compared to other projects, in order to gain insights into the relative performance as far as the quality of developing the content is concerned.

This type of scoring system can also be used to track progress/performance within a project, or phase, as plotting the accumulation of points over time can give an indication of how effective and/or efficient efforts are. It can also help to quantitatively assess when a point of saturation is being reached, where the added value of previously effective activities is decreasing, for example because they no longer yield new information, at which point it is probably time to move on to a next activity or phase.

In order to apply this type of scoring system holistically with other metrics, it can be necessary to create a conversion system, which converts the score into a metric that is comparable with others, in order not to overly influence metrics that cannot increase unlimitedly.

#### Comprehensiveness

As explained in chapter 3.2, comprehensiveness - being a combination of both width and depth - is what determines the quality of diverging activities in the context of the content quality. Comprehensiveness is not a straightforward objective, however, as it is not yet possible to know what is required. What is clear, however, is that the act of gathering information is an effective way to gain an understanding of what is necessary, as well as an effective approach to collecting the information necessary to reach a 'higher level of comprehensiveness.

A way to explain how comprehensive information leads to better results, as explained in Design road mapping (Simonse, 2017), is that the extent to which is diverged determines Figure b.8: The effect of comprehensive how 'far' results can be achieved. In the context of road mapping, 'far' refers to how far



information.

in future something is, but it can also describe how far results are different from competition, or alternatives (see figure b.8). Diverse information also gives more flexibility, and possibilities to change according to new information, compared to more linear approaches. This is another benefit of complete information, from a long-term perspective.

Gathering information in research (insights), and in ideation (creative input) is different, so comprehensiveness is not entirely the same for the first and second diamond of a Strategic Design process. The measurability of each is explained separately below, however both follow the same basic principles: points are rewarded for broader information and for more detail (i.e. depth), and a higher score represents more comprehensiveness.

For research insights, this means points are rewarded for each insight. The exact definition of an insight may vary, but it should be noted that it is not raw data/information. An insight involves data, as well as a (small) conclusion in the working context. For example, an increase in global temperature due to global warming is not an insight, however, the expectation that people will consume more ice-cream due to an increase in global temperature due to global warming, can be an insight for an ice-cream company. Similarly, the popularity of a particular type of social media may not lead to insights for a farmer, but it probably will for a marketing firm.

On top of a base score for every insight, more points can be rewarded for depth, and for how well grounded an insight is.

How well grounded an insight is, is important, as it can help to gain deeper insights, as well as give importance to insights that are more certain. The scoring for how well-grounded insight is, can be based on the amount and variety of sources that can be connected to the insight. This means that if an insight is supported by many, and diverse sources, the resulting score is higher than when an insight is not. In order to avoid over-researching a single insight, which does not benefit the width of information, it is recommendable to reward points for extra sources until a pre-set maximum is reached.

102

In the case of the previous example of popularity of social media, it can be interesting to have multiple papers, as well as more practical sources, about the popularity of Instagram, however spending time to find 15 sources stating that Instagram is most popular among 20 year olds, instead of stopping after 5 will not likely result in better results by the end of the fuzzy front end.

Following up on a single insight is beneficial, if it results in a deeper understanding. To stay within a design research context, a suitable way of assessing depth, is by using insight/ knowledge ladders (Sanders & Stappers, 2012). This means that different levels of knowledge about the same phenomenon can be put into a ladder (see figure b.g). Asking why-questions gives insight into underlying reasons, which can help to gain better understanding of an insight. For example, an increase in icecream consumption, an increase in global

temperature, and global warming can be seen as a ladder, where every phenomenon has the same cause, but provides a different insight at a different level. In the case of the ice-cream company, this will tell them that the increase in ice-cream consumption is likely to remain over a longer period of time, and therefore suitable to act upon.

In addition, asking how-guestions, when laddering knowledge, can help to gain insight into the resulting effects of a phenomenon, which can help to make insight more specific and usable.

In the context of scoring points for insights, points can be rewarded for every additional level of knowledge, and therefore understanding of a single insight. In order to avoid excessive research on a particular ladder, again, the amount of points can be capped after a certain amount.

When it comes to scoring points for ideation, it becomes more complicated, as there is more variation between approaches and results. For this reason, this explanation will retain relatively much flexibility, as further detailing will require context and application.

More points should be rewarded for broader, and deeper information - creative input in this case. Following the approach of scoring Figure b.10: Scoring information points per insight, an organisation should firstly comprehensiveness. choose the base level of detail at which points

are scored (resulting in more points for more/broader ideas), for example idea clusters, or distinct elements to use in a value proposition can be chosen as a base level. Secondly, how points are rewarded for the depth of ideas should be chosen. For example, when brainstorming, extra points can be awarded for different amounts of unique ideas within a cluster, or for variations to similar elements in the example of a value proposition. Assessing how well grounded an idea is, can be done by rewarding additional points for the diversity of stakeholders involved in ideation, meaning that involving experts (and not only designers) will lead to a higher score. Practically, this cannot be done per idea, so should be done per session instead.

Figure b.10 shows a table specifying how comprehensiveness of both research and ideation information can be scored.



Figure b.g: Creating a ladder of knowledge.

Phase	Research	Ideation
Range	5-15 points per insight	5-15 points per cluster
Broadness	5 points per insight	1 point per final idea cluster
Depth	1 extra point per additional layer of information, with a maximum of 5	1 extra point per 10 unique ideas within each cluster, with a maximum of 4
Groundedness	1 additional point per source, with a maximum of 5.	total amount of points (per session) multiplied by amount of involved stakeholder groups, with a maximum of 3

#### Coherence

Coherence is in many ways a subjective guality, however there are approaches to guantify it. Hassan's (1984) Cohesive Harmony Index is such an approach, where the cohesion of texts is measured by counting the number of ties between different textual elements, which he calls tokens. Tokens can be seen as single representations of portions of a text which describe the same subject. For example, the previous sentences describing tokens, including this sentence, can be seen as a token. The next sentences which describe how the Cohesive Harmony Index works, are a different token.

The number of ties between tokens, compared to the total number of tokens within a text, gives a ratio, which represents the cohesion of a text, where a higher number is better. This ratio is not limited to a maximum of 1, as it is possible to have multiple ties for a token.

Ties in the context of Strategic Design can be seen as argumentation which connects insights. Tokens can be seen as elements of information, such as insights, and ideas.

The question, how to deal with assumptions, then arises. Due to the uncertainty in the fuzzy front end, not everything can be based on validated/proven logic, and assumptions need Sub-conclusion to be made. This can be addressed by making the scoring for coherence with reservation, until they are either accepted by stakeholders, or proven. If assumptions are not accepted, and cannot be proven, they should not be applied in the content at all.



Figure b.11: Visualising the structure of Strategic Design results.

In order to apply Hassan's (1984) Cohesive Harmony Index to Strategic Design, the Strategic Designer will have to create a visual overview of all information, with every insight/idea as a separate point, and visually link the element together (see figure b.11). This makes the ties relatively easy to count, and forces the Strategic Designer to be explicit and clear about each tie, also making it easier to discuss specific ties, compared to a situation where the ties are implicit, or explained textually.

Applying this approach to the content quality point system, the ratio resulting from the number of ties, compared to the number of tokens, can be multiplied by the total amount of points for the insights, in order to come to a final score for the content quality. This means that the score representing comprehensiveness is multiplied according to the coherence, to come to the final score representing content quality. Multiplying the scores in such a manner makes it rewarding for the Strategic Designers to be thorough in their logic, and apply as much information as possible. This does not mean that every element must be part of the final story, but it should be addressed (whether positive, or negative) in order to retain a high Content Quality Score. This helps to avoid cherry-picking, where important, but negative information is left out of the story in order to be more convincing, as ignoring information will lead to a lower coherence ration, and therefore a lower score.

• 104

The coherence ratio itself can be compared between different phases and projects, in order to get an understanding of the relative performance of different projects.

With the box ticker challenge of creating a KPI in mind, the guestion can arise whether or not the described approach to creating insight into argumentation is compatible with a Strategic Design process. At this point it is impossible to know if it is, however there are reasons to believe it can be. Creating a visual overview of findings and argumentation is not a standard practice for Strategic Designers, but is definitely not unheard of. One research participant (P1) from the qualitative study described a nearly identical approach in his own way of working, and from personal experience working in Strategic Design student groups, it seems to be a common practice. The only difference is that it is not always documented in a way that would be suitable to assess the coherence. The crux of the compatibility thus becomes a question of how timeconsuming this documentation process would be. Obviously, it is more time-consuming than not doing it. However, it can be relatively guick compared to writing text that provides the same level of overview. The previously mentioned participant described this visual way of working as far more efficient, and compatible with a design approach, than writing reports, which was standard practice in his company. Based on personally trying out this approach for the validation (described in chapter 6), it also seems to be a far quicker and easier process than it initially seemed.

Furthermore, this visual approach to argumentation should help to avoid the biases discussed in section B.1, by rewarding a visual representation, which makes the content easier to oversee, without oversimplifying the actual content.

#### **Content Quality Score**

To summarise, the content aspect of Strategic Design performance can be measured using a point system, in which points are rewarded for gathering information (diverging), and multiplied with the coherence ratio that represents how well information is integrated into a result (converging).

This score can be converted into a final number which is comparable with the other aspects of Strategic Design performance.

### Support

Support is an important aspect to measure, since it serves to clarify the fit of results. When quantifying people's perspectives, customer resource methods are a suitable approach. This means that support could be measured through short guestionnaires, using Likert scales (Jamal, Foxall & Evans, 2009), or other, similar approaches.

The benefit of such an approach, is that various stakeholders can easily contribute to a metric which is specific to Strategic Design. For a Strategic Design KPI, it is best to measure how successful the stakeholders think the result is, indicating strategic fit, or continuity, and their perception of the quality.

Overall, this results in a metric that is an indication of how well Strategic Designers have performed in terms of the fit of the results, and how convincing they are.

A support metric can be compared between phases and projects, to indicate the relative performance. Within a phase, such a metric can serve to gain intermediate insights into the performance of the Strategic Designers as perceived by stakeholders, however the question is whether or not this indication is always relevant, as the perception of the means is not always an indication of the final quality. The perception of activities can influence the final support, however, (strategic fit and continuity), so it may be interesting to track, especially for longer projects.

### Understandability

The main point of addressing understandability for Strategic Design projects, is to be able to properly discuss the content, and make valid gualitative judgements. Without a sufficient level of understanding, this becomes impossible. This can be obvious if there is little to no understanding, however, when all involved stakeholders think they understand, but have different ideas about the content, it is easy to fall into meaningless conversations.

To avoid this, a common understanding must be established. A quick way to do this, would be to ask involved stakeholders to explain a result in their own words, and compare it to the Strategic Designer's explanation, making an estimation of the similarity. For obvious reasons it is not possible to recite full presentations, or reports, however the core message is a good starting point. Counting how many elements of the core message can be found in a stakeholders' explanation can give an indication of understandability. This is easier if results are based on a standard format, such as a value proposition, however also possible for other formats.

## Innovation culture

Metrics for innovation culture already exist, such as those mentioned in chapter 2.2. Given the scope of this project, the topic of measuring innovation culture is not further explored.

• 106

# C: Original brief

# DESIGN

## **IDE Master Graduation** Project team, Procedural checks and personal Project brief

This document contains the agreements made between student and supervisory team about the student's IDE Master Graduation Project. This document can also include the involvement of an external organisation, however, it does not cover any legal employment relationship that the student and the client (might) agree upon. Next to that, this document facilitates the required procedural checks. In this document:

- The student defines the team, what he/she is going to do/deliver and how that will come about.
- SSC E&SA (Shared Service Center, Education & Student Affairs) reports on the student's registration and study progress.
- IDE's Board of Examiners confirms if the student is allowed to start the Graduation Project.

## USE ADOBE ACROBAT READER TO OPEN, EDIT AND SAVE THIS DOCUMENT

family name	Helbing 4044	Your master programme (only select the options that apply to you):
initials	A.V. given name Adam	IDE master(s): IPD Dfl 😿 SPD
tudent number		2 <sup>nd</sup> non-IDE master:
street & no.		individual programme: (give date of approval)
zipcode & city		honours programme: Honours Programme Master
country		specialisation / annotation: 🔵 Medisign
phone		Tech. in Sustainable Design
email		() Entrepeneurship

Fill in t	<b>EVISORY TEAM **</b> the required data for the supervisory te			Chair should request the IDE Board of Examiners for approval
** chair	Marina Bos de Vos	dept. / section: _	DOS/MOD	of a non-IDE mentor, including a
** mentor	Erik-Jan Hultink	dept. / section: _	DOS/MCR	motivation letter and c.v
2 <sup>nd</sup> mentor				Second mentor only
	organisation:			applies in case the assignment is hosted by
	city:	country:		an external organisation.
comments			•	Ensure a heterogeneous team.
(optional)				In case you wish to include two
				team members from the same section, please explain why.
IDE TU	J Delft - E&SA Department /// Graduati	on project brief & stud	y overview /// 2018-01 v30	Page 1 of 7



			Marin Digitally signed by a Bos- Marina Bos- de Vos Date: 2020.03.27	
chair <u>Marina Bos de Vos</u>	date <u>27 - 03 - 2020</u>	signature _	Vos 09:49:22 +01'00'	_
<b>CHECK STUDY PROGRESS</b> To be filled in by the SSC E&SA (Shared Servic The study progress will be checked for a 2nd ti			ne project brief by the Chai	
Master electives no. of EC accumulated in total		_	year master courses passe	6
Of which, taking the conditional requirement into account, can be part of the exam programm			, 1st year master courses are	
List of electives obtained before the third semester without approval of the BoE				
				)
name <u>Colinda van der Bunt</u>	date <u>31 - 03 - 2020</u>	signature _		_
FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ	ECT	J		_
	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory	r team and study th	e parts of the brief marked	**.
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-program</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of Content:	r team and study th	e parts of the brief marked	
<b>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ</b> To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content:	r team and study th w.		0
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content: content: ed, the specific Procedure:	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	0
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> <li>Is the project expected to be doable within working days/20 weeks ?</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content: content: specific Procedure: content gh for a 100	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	0
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> <li>Is the project expected to be doable within</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content: content: specific Procedure: content gh for a 100 am	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> <li>Is the project expected to be doable within working days/20 weeks ?</li> <li>Does the composition of the supervisory te</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content: content: specific Procedure: content gh for a 100 am	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> <li>Is the project expected to be doable within working days/20 weeks ?</li> <li>Does the composition of the supervisory te</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of content: content: specific Procedure: content gh for a 100 am	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	
<ul> <li>FORMAL APPROVAL GRADUATION PROJ To be filled in by the Board of Examiners of IDE Next, please assess, (dis)approve and sign this</li> <li>Does the project fit within the (MSc)-progra the student (taking into account, if describe activities done next to the obligatory MSc courses)?</li> <li>Is the level of the project challenging enou MSc IDE graduating student?</li> <li>Is the project expected to be doable within working days/20 weeks ?</li> <li>Does the composition of the supervisory te</li> </ul>	ECT TU Delft. Please check the supervisory Project Brief, by using the criteria belo amme of ed, the specific Procedure:	team and study the w.	NOT APPROVED	

#### Personal Project Brief - IDE Master Graduation

#### Key Performance Indicators for Strategic Design

Please state the title of your graduation project (above) and the start date and end date (below). Keep the title compact and simple. Do not use abbreviations. The remainder of this document allows you to define and clarify your graduation project.

start date 25 - 03 - 2020

<b>INTRODUCTION **</b> Please describe, the context of your project, and address the main stake complete manner. Who are involved, what do they value and how do th main opportunities and limitations you are currently aware of (cultural-
Design is one of many fields that focuses on innovation, and it longer limited to the creation of products based on briefs, but well (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016). Strategic Design can be defined as: "[] the professional field it methods to influence strategic decision making. Strategic dec impact, involve multiple stakeholders and require a substantia resources" (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016). The long term scope, and ability to deal with multiple stakeho approach global wicked problems, however the design field (e young, and does not yet have a lot of influence in most organ On a global scale, we are now facing challenges that require u environmental sustainability) (Delft Design for Values Institute, make an impact. Strategic Designers can work in many different contexts, and co organisation, or as an external party in the form of a consultan A challenge for Strategic Designers however, is that their work front end, figure 1), which means that the goal/outcome is no can serve as an intermediate result, which will lead to more sp the exact added value of the work of the Strategic Designer. T value of Strategic Design, as is described in more detail in the
space available for images / figures on next page

IDE TU Delft - E8	SA Depar	rtment /// Graduation project brief	& stu
Initials & Name	A. V.	Helbing	
Title of Project	Key Perf	formance Indicators for Strateg	ic Des

Measuring Strategic Design Performance;

**ŤU**Delft

### **ŤU**Delft

project title

<u>20 - 08 - 2020</u> end date

ts scope and influence is expanding rapidly. Design is no t has moved into the strategic domain of organisations as

in which designers use their principles, tools, and cision making includes decisions that have a long term al commitment of monetary and non-monetary

olders make Strategic Design an interesting field to (especially the strategic design field) is still relatively nisations (Calabretta, Gemser & Karpen, 2016).

us to adapt, and innovate radically (i.e. social and e, N.A.), which is an opportunity for Strategic Designers to

organisations, both as an internal part of the

s is typically early in an innovation process (see the fuzzy t always clear form the start. It also means that their work pecific outcomes later on, making it difficult to pinpoint This can make it difficult to explain and prove the added problem definition.

udy overview /// 2018-01 v30 

Page 3 of 7

sign

#### Personal Project Brief - IDE Master Graduation

### **ŤU**Delft

#### Personal Project Brief - IDE Master Graduation

introduction (continued): space for images	<b>PROBLEM DEFINITION **</b> Limit and define the scope and solution space of your project to one the
	EC (= 20 full time weeks or 100 working days) and clearly indicate who
	According to 'The Business Value of Design' by McKinsey (20 design potential is being able to objectively measure design companies admit that they are not able to (see figure 2). This the company, and design efforts not reaching their full poter
designation as sont mos wet	McKinsey also points out that less than 5 percent of the com make objective design decisions (see figure 2), and stresses t as time or costs. In practice however, Design Metrics are rarel Metrics for Strategic Deisgn, is that they are often limited to ( potential, or types of value that are not translated into busine Another aspect that complicates Design Metrics (or other for that metrics are in essence quantitative (Huang, 2019) Design
fuzzy front end	This leaves Strategic Designer practitioners challenged, wher quality of their work. This limits their credibility and lowers th
image / figure 1: Adaptation of the design process, Sanders & Stappers (2008)	ASSIGNMENT **
	State in 2 or 3 sentences what you are going to research, design, crea out in "problem definition". Then illustrate this assignment by indicati instance: a product, a product-service combination, a strategy illustrat case of a Specialisation and/or Annotation, make sure the assignment
Less than 5 percent of the companies we surveyed reported that their leaders could make objective design decisions (for example, to develop new products or enter new sectors).	Design 'Key Performance Indicators' for Strategic Design in a co measure the performance of Strategic Designers and/or quality have a qualitative nature, and can work towards long-term goa not always limited to only business value.
	Given the broad interpretation possibilities of the subject ma the unit of analysis, and create a clear understanding of the f 1) Strategic Designers (role, and type of work) 2) Performance
Just <u>over 50 percent</u> admitted that they have no objective way to assess or set targets for the	Based on these definitions, the assignment will consist of: 1) A literature study of performance measuring (and similar similar similar similar similar) but not limited to: (radical) innovation, design met 2) A qualitative study using interviews about measuring Strate and Strategic Design practitioners.
output of their design teams.	which will lead to: 1) A theoretical framework of performance measuring in Stra 2) A design of Key Performance Indicators for Strategic Desig
IDE TIL Dolft ERSA Department /// Graduation project brief & study evening /// 2010 01, 200	
IDE TU Delft - E&SA Department /// Graduation project brief & study overview /// 2018-01 v30 Page 4 of 7 Initials & Name <u>A. V. Helbing 4044</u> Student number <u>4354893</u>	IDE TU Delft - E&SA Department /// Graduation project brief & study Initials & Name <u>A. V. Helbing</u>

- 110 •

## **ŤU**Delft

by McKinsey (2018), one of the key factors that determine a company's measure design performance, however in practice, more than half of see figure 2). This often results in insufficient support and investment from ng their full potential.

rcent of the companies they surveyed reported that their leaders could 2), and stresses the value of Design Metrics to make design as measurable n Metrics are rarely reliable (Feldman, 2017). The problem with Design often limited to (current) consumer insights, and fail to cover long term slated into business value.

etrics (or other forms of performance indicators in the context of design) is ang, 2019) Design on the other hand, is primarily a qualitative field.

challenged, when it comes to measuring their own performance, and the lity and lowers the potential value that they have to offer.

ch, design, create and / or generate, that will solve (part of) the issue(s) pointed nent by indicating what kind of solution you expect and / or aim to deliver, for trategy illustrated through product or product-service combination ideas, ... . In the assignment reflects this/these.

gic Design in a consultancy context, with the goal to be able to objectively ers and/or quality of their work. Keeping in mind that Strategic Designers ds long-term goals, in complex multi-stakeholder contexts where value is

of the subject matter, a (short) study will be conducted in order to define standing of the following terms:

ring (and similar subjects) in various strategic design related contexts, ation, design metrics, and non-business value. It measuring Strategic Design performance with Strategic Design experts,

measuring in Strategic Design r Strategic Design

oject brief & study overview /// 2018-01 v30

Page 5 of 7

\_4044\_\_\_\_ Student number \_4354893\_ r Strategic Design

#### Personal Project Brief - IDE Master Graduation

### **ŤU**Delft

#### PLANNING AND APPROACH \*\*

PLANNING AND APPRUALH \*\* Include a Gantt Chart (replace the example below - more examples can be found in Manual 2) that shows the different phases of your project, deliverables you have in mind, meetings, and how you plan to spend your time. Please note that all activities should fit within the given net time of 30 EC = 20 full time weeks or 100 working days, and your planning should include a kick-off meeting, mid-term meeting, green light meeting and graduation ceremony. Illustrate your Gantt Chart by, for instance, explaining your approach, and please indicate periods of part-time activities and/or periods of not spending time on your graduation project, if any, for instance because of holidays or parallel activities.

	13	14	15	16 4	17	18	19	20	21 9	22 10	23	24
roject week Aeeting	1 Kick-off	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Midterm	10	11	12
late	25-3								27-5			
efine unit of analysis	23-3								27-5			
iterature study									1			
ualitative research plan												
ualitative study												
heoretical framework												
PI design												
hesis writing												
reparing presentation												
alender week	25	26	27	28	29	30		31	32	33	34	
roject week	13	14	15	16	17	18		19	20	21	22	2
leetings						Green li	ight				Gradu	ation
ate						23-7					20	-8
efine unit of analysis												
terature study												
ualitative research plan												
ualitative study heoretical framework												
PI design												
hesis writing												
reparing presentation												
The planning accour The project is structure isable derivative of the the research is split is esearch. The synthesis of resur- The first research pho- ) A literature review 2) A series of 5-10 in	ured into t the results into two p ults happe ase will co v, to create	two pha s. ohases ir ons iterat	ses of r n order t tively ba f: rview ar	esearch, o gain m sed on tl nd synthe	and a pa nore dep he know esis of di	arallel pro th by follo ledge tha fferent exi	ocess of owing u t is gat isting k	f synthe up the re hered u nowled	sising a c esults of f ntil that p ge fields.	compreh the first p point.	ohase of	
The project is structure isable derivative of t The research is split i esearch. The synthesis of resur The first research pho-	ured into t the results into two p ults happe ase will co , to create nterviews v	two pha bhases ir ns iterat onsist of e an ove with exp	ses of r n order t tively ba f: rview ar perts abo	esearch, o gain m sed on tl nd synthe put their	and a pa nore dep he know esis of dii experien	arallel pro th by follo ledge tha fferent exi ces in the	ocess of owing u t is gat sting k conte	f synthe up the re hered u nowled xt of Stra	sising a c esults of t ntil that p ge fields. ategic De	compreh the first p point. esign per	ohase of rformane	ce and

IDE TU Delft - E8	&SA Depa	rtment /// Graduat	ion project brief & stud	ly overview	r /// 2018-01 v30	Page 6 of 7
Initials & Name	<u>A.V.</u>	Helbing		4044	Student number <u>4354893</u>	
Title of Project	Key Per	formance Indicat	ors for Strategic Desig	gn		

• 112 •

#### Personal Project Brief - IDE Master Graduation

MOTIVATION AND PERSONAL AMBITIONS
Explain why you set up this project, what competences you want to prove a
MSc programme, the elective semester, extra-curricular activities (etc.) and
Optionally, describe which personal learning ambitions you explicitly want t
of the Graduation Project, such as: in depth knowledge a on specific subject
specific tool and/or methodology, Stick to no more than five ambitions.
The idea for this and desting a single set of the data set of the control of the set of
The idea for this graduation assignment started throughout my SF
lack the ability to be quantitatively convincing from a financial poi
Strategic Value of Design, Design Consultancy Practice, and In-hor
recent graduates about their working experiences.
I want to address this challenge, because it limits our potential aft
financially driven, and require Strategic Designers to have a certain
to apply their knowledge and skills to their fullest extent.
My goal is to create a way to be credible in a quantitative context
outside of an academic context, while maintaining the qualitative
defined the following ambitions for myself throughout my gradua
1) Gather and synthesize research findings in a holistic, comprehe
practical applicability.
2) Create a strong, convincing argument about the results, focusir
3) Manage the project, and present the findings and results in a pr
FINAL COMMENTS
In case your project brief needs final comments, please add any information
IDE TU Delft - E&SA Department /// Graduation project brief & study overv
Initials & Name A. V. Helbing 4044

Title of Project Key Performance Indicators for Strategic Design

Measuring Strategic Design Performance;

113

## **ŤU**Delft

SPD Master, as I noticed that Strategic Designers often oint of view. I noticed this during courses such as ouse Design, as well as during conversations with

fter graduation, since most organisations are ain degree of quantitative credibility in order for them

xt for my client, myself, and potentially my peers, ve richness of our work. In order to do so, I have uation project:

nensible manner, while balancing academic rigor and

sing on the viability of Strategic Design.

professional manner.

overview	/// 2018-01 v30	Page 7 of 7
044	Student number 4354893	

